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Board of Directors Report 
For the Fiscal Year Ending on 31 December 2024 

Khaleeji Bank 

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful 
Peace and blessings be upon our Prophet Muhammad, and upon all his family and 
companions 

Dear Shareholders, 
May the peace, mercy and blessings of Allah be upon you, 

On behalf of the members of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to highlight in this report the financial 
statements of Khaleeji Bank for the fiscal year ending on 31 December 2024. 

Last year witnessed the achievement of positive financial results for the fifth consecutive year, with our 
shareholders recording profits of BD 10.503 million for the fiscal year ended on 31 December 2024, an 
increase of 16.66% compared to the fiscal year ended on 31 December 2023. These results reflect our 
firm commitment to promoting sustainable growth and achieving added value to our shareholders. We 
believe that our effective strategies and advanced approaches to flexible risk management have 
contributed to strengthening the bank’s financial position, achieving a strong performance despite the 
challenges facing the market. The increase in revenues and net profit also embodies the quality of our 
financial services and our excellence in providing integrated banking solutions to our customers, which 
makes us more optimistic about the future. 

During 2024, the bank also exited a number of non-income-generating real estate investment assets 
valued at BD 72.884 million, as the financing portfolio increased to BD 721.167 million with an increase 
of 31.53% percent. 

Last year was the second since launching our new identity, during which we sought to continue building 
on the tangible successes that strengthened our pioneering position as a long-established financial 
institution with a leading transformational role. Khaleeji has concluded a busy year, adding to its list of 
exceptional accomplishments, including a 10.15% increase in the number of customers, which 
positively impacted net profit for the bank’s shareholders. The total comprehensive income attributable 
to shareholders of the parent company increased by 54.48% compared to the previous year, while total 
revenues rose by 6.04% in 2024 compared to 2023. 

In our ongoing efforts to develop various products and services, last year witnessed the development 
of the "Al Waffer" account and the announcement of 9 grand prizes and 35 monthly cash prizes totaling 
over 3 million US dollars, of which 2 million US dollars were drawn for five depositors last December.  

The bank also launched its enhanced open banking services, providing customers with unprecedented 
flexibility and a comprehensive view of their accounts, cards, and financial resources through the 
"Khaleeji" application. Additionally, we launched the "Hafeez" platform, an innovative digital banking 
solution specifically designed to meet the needs of corporate clients. This platform has been updated 
with new services that facilitate processes and enhance efficiency, providing an integrated and 
advanced banking experience for this segment. Furthermore, Khaleeji introduced the “Ajyal” account, 
a leading savings solution aimed at children aged 0 to 21 years, offering an expected profit rate of up 
to 5%, along with numerous benefits, reflecting our commitment to initiative and innovation. 

Last year also saw the continuation of our dedicated efforts to establish new partnerships with various 
institutions in both the public and private sectors across several key areas, including real estate 
development, housing, education, investment, and more, as part of the bank’s strategic plans to expand 
partnerships and improve customer services, particularly financing services.  

In terms of social responsibility, the bank focused its efforts on participating in four vital sectors: 
education, environment, youth, and sports. This included supporting numerous leading initiatives and 
institutions, such as Injaz Bahrain, the Bahrain Institute of Banking and Finance, Youth City, the Shaikh 
Ebrahim bin Mohammed Al Khalifa Center for Culture and Heritage, and several prestigious schools, in 
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addition to the Bahrain Football Association, the Bahrain Basketball Association, and the Bahrain 
Paralympic Committee. The bank also sponsored prominent local tournaments, including the His 
Majesty King Hamad International Golf Trophy (16th edition), the Late Shaikh Abdulla bin Khalifa Al 
Khalifa Ramadan Golf Tournament (4th edition), the 2024 Shaikh Nasser bin Hamad Al Khalifa Football 
League organised by the Ministry of Education, and the 2024 “Desert Storm” competition. 

The bank also participated in the activities of Bahraini Tree Week by contributing to planting trees in 
various areas of the Kingdom, in cooperation with the municipalities.  

It also contributed to supporting families affected by the Al Lawzi fire incident, in cooperation with the 
Ministry of Housing and Urban Planning and the Ministry of Social Development. Moreover, the bank 
supports the Kingdom's efforts to achieve its ambitious goal of reaching zero carbon emissions by 2060 
through adopting numerous innovative programmes and initiatives. 

Crowning the above, the bank won several prestigious awards, including the Bahrain Responsible 
Competitiveness Award in the Economic Excellence category for 2024, the "Best New Banking Brand 
in Bahrain for 2024" award, and the "Best Corporate Banking App in the GCC 2024" award presented 
by International Business Magazine (IBM), in addition to the Best FinTech App award at the Bahrain 
Digital Content Awards 2023 (BDC Awards 2023). 

Additionally, Khaleeji was listed on Al Bilad newspaper's list of the Top 50 Bahraini Companies for 2024, 
an annual initiative organised by the newspaper and aims to highlight the role of leading national 
institutions in supporting economic growth, shed light on outstanding companies across various sectors, 
and promote disclosure, transparency, and competitiveness standards.  

The bank also obtained the prestigious ISO 22301:2019 certification for Business Continuity 
Management (BCM) from the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO), after undergoing 
auditing procedures, fulfilling all standard requirements, and successfully passing the audit process. 

Finally, on behalf of all members of the Board of Directors, the executive management, and Khaleeji 
Bank employees, we would like to take this opportunity to extend our utmost gratitude and appreciation 
to His Majesty King Hamad bin Isa Al Khalifa, the King of the Kingdom of Bahrain, and to His Royal 
Highness Prince Salman bin Hamad Al Khalifa, the Crown Prince and Prime Minister, for the support 
and assistance they provide to all sectors in the Kingdom, particularly the banking sector. We would 
also like to express our deep appreciation and gratitude to the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) for their 
fruitful and constructive cooperation, as well as to the ministries, government agencies, and Bahrain 
Bourse for their continued support and backing. 

We would also like to commend the dedicated efforts of the Khaleeji team in solidifying the bank's 
leadership and reaching new horizons of success and development through adopting an innovative 
approach that we have established to reap the best results while maintaining the innovative banking 
products and services we offer to meet the aspirations and ambitions of our valued customers. We also 
extend our gratitude to the shareholders and valued customers for their trust and unwavering loyalty to 
Khaleeji. 

Stemming from our commitment to the provisions of Commercial Companies Law No. (21) of 2001 and 
its amendments, and in implementation of the provisions of Article No. (188) of the Commercial 
Companies Law and Article No. (125) of the Executive Regulations of Resolution No. (3) of 2022, and 
the bank's pledge to maintain full transparency with the esteemed shareholders, we are pleased to 
attach the following table, which clarifies the remunerations of the members of the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Management for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2024. 
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Board of Directors & Executive Management compensation: 
 
The Bank has both a short-term and long-term compensation structure for its executive management which has 
been developed based on current market surveys and industry norms. The Bank also had an incentive scheme 
where in eligible employees were awarded a combination of shares and cash incentives on achievement of pre-
determined performance targets. During 2024, the total remuneration of top 6 executives, including CEO and 
Senior Financial Officer including other allowances and benefits was BD 1,343,201. 

The Bank’s board remuneration is determined in line with the provisions of Article 188 of the Companies Law, and 
their annual remuneration is subject to the approval of the shareholders during the AGM at the end of each year. 
The Board of Directors is also entitled to sitting fees. The table below illustrates a full account of everything paid to 
the members of the board of directors during the financial year in the form of salaries, dividends, allowance for 
attendance (sitting fees), allowance for representation and other expenses: 

 Executive Management Remuneration Details for Top 6 Executives: 
 

Aggregate Amount  
Any other cash/ in kind 
remuneration for 2024 

Variable remuneration  
(Bonus)  

Fixed paid salaries and 
allowances  

Executive management  

1,343,201 53,950 314,344 974,907 
Remuneration of top 6 executives, 

including CEO and Senior Financial 
Officer 

Note: All amounts are stated in Bahraini Dinars. 
 
Notes: 
1. The total bonus included BD 157,172 as cash based remuneration and BD 157,172 as shares based remuneration.  

2. Remuneration details include Board remuneration earned by executive management from their role in investee companies or other subsidiaries. 

 
 
 

 Board of Directors’ Remuneration Details: 
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First: Independent Directors: 

1- Sh. Ahmed Bin Isa  
Al Khalifa 

24,000 16,800 - 40,800 - - - - - 40,800 - 

2- Reyadh Eid Al Yaqoob 28,500 16,800 - 45,300 - - - - - 45,300 - 

3- Sh. Isa Bin Khalid  
Al Khalifa 

23,000 7,500 - 30,500 - - - - - 30,500 - 

4- Dawod Alghoul - 750 - 750 - - - - - 750 - 

5- Hussain Sayed Ali  
Al Hussaini 4,000 4,200 - 8,200 - - - - - 8,200 - 

6- Isa Abdulla Zainal 5,500 2,250 - 7,750 - - - - - 7,750 - 

Second: Non-Executive Directors:  

1- Ali Murad Ali Murad 30,500 9,000 - 39,500 - - - - - 39,500 - 

2- Mazen Ibrahim Abdulkarim 27,000 9,000 - 36,000 - - - - - 36,000 - 

3- Yousif Abdulla Taqi 21,500 14,000 4,500 40,000 - - - - - 40,000 - 
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Name 

Fixed remunerations Variable remunerations 
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4- H.E. Ayman Tawfeeq Almoayed 20,000 7,500 - 27,500 - - - - - 27,500 - 

5- Sh. Fahad Bin Ebrahim  
Al Khalifa 13,500 6,000 - 19,500 - - - - - 19,500 - 

6- Hisham Abdulrahman 
 Al Bin Ali 13,500 6,000 - 19,500 - - - - - 19,500 - 

7- Mosaboh Saif Al Mutairy 25,500 2,250 - 7,750 - - - - - 7,750 - 

Third: Executive Directors:  

1- Hisham Ahmed Al Rayes 14,000 9,000 - 23,000 - - - - - 23,000 - 

2- Salah Abdulla Sharif 4,000 3,000 - 7,000 - - - - - 7,000 - 

Total 234,500 114,050 4,500 353,050 - - - - - 353,050 - 

Note: All amounts are stated in Bahraini Dinars. 
 
Other remunerations:  
* It includes in-kind benefits – specific amount - remuneration for technical, administrative and advisory works (if any).  
** It includes the board member's share of the profits - Granted shares (insert the value) (if any). 
 
Notes: 
1. The Bank does not have any variable remuneration payments, end of service benefits, or expense allowances paid to its directors. 
2. Board remuneration represents payments proposed for the year 2024 which are subject to the approval of the shareholders in upcoming Annual General Meeting 

dated 17th March 2025.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Hisham Ahmed Al Rayes 
Chairman of the Board 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sheikh Ahmed bin Isa Al Khalifa 
Vice Chairman of the Board 

5,500





 

 

KPMG Fakhro 
Audit 
12th Floor, Fakhro Tower,  
P.O. Box 710, Manama,  
Kingdom of Bahrain  

Telephone       +973 17224807 
Telefax             +973 17227443 
Website: www.kpmg.com/bh  
CR No.  6220 – 2 
 

6 
 
 

© 2025 KPMG Fakhro, a Bahrain partnership registered with the Ministry of Industry and Commerce (MOIC), Kingdom of Bahrain and a member firm of the KPMG global 
organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 

 
 
 

 

Independent auditors’ report 
 

To the Shareholders of  
 
Khaleeji Bank B.S.C.  
PO Box 60002 
Manama 
Kingdom of Bahrain 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Khaleeji Bank B.S.C. (the “Bank”),  and its subsidiaries 
(together the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income , income and attribution related to quasi-equity, changes in 
owners’ equity, cash flows, and changes in off-balance sheet assets under management for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated results of operations, consolidated income and 
attribution related to quasi-equity, consolidated changes in owners’ equity, consolidated cash flows and consolidated changes 
in off-balance sheet assets under management for the year then ended in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards 
(“FAS”) issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (“AAOIFI”). 
 
In our opinion, the Group has also complied with the Islamic Shariah Principles and Rules as determined by the Group’s Shariah 
Supervisory Board during the year ended 31 December 2024.     

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards for Islamic Financial Institutions (“ASIFIs”) issued by AAOIFI.  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with AAOIFI’s Code 
of Ethics for Accountants and Auditors of Islamic Financial Institutions and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
(together the “Code”), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.  

Impairment allowance on Financing contracts 

Refer to accounting policy in note 5 (i), use of estimates and judgements in note 28 and management of credit risk in note 
38. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

We focused on this area because: 
• Of the significance of financing contracts representing 

48.2% of total assets. 
 

• The estimation of expected credit losses (“ECL”) on 
financing contracts involves significant judgment and 
estimates. The key areas where we identified greater 
level of management judgment and estimates are:  

 
 Use of complex models 
Use of inherently judgmental complex models to 
estimate ECL which involves determining Probabilities 
of default (“PD”), Loss Given Default (“LGD”) and 
Exposure At default (“EAD”). The PD models are 
considered the drivers of the ECLs.  

 
 Economic scenarios  
The need to measure ECLs on an unbiased forward-
looking basis incorporating a range of economic 
conditions. Significant management judgment is 
applied in determining the economic scenarios used 
and the probability weightings applied to them.  

 
 Management overlays  
Adjustments to the ECL model results are made by 
management to address known impairment model 
limitations or emerging trends or risks. Such 
adjustments are inherently uncertain and significant 
management judgment is involved in estimating these 
amounts.   

Our procedures, amongst others, included:  
 Evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 

policies adopted based on the requirements of 
applicable accounting standards, regulatory guidance, 
our business understanding and industry practice. 
 

 Confirming our understanding of management’s 
processes, systems and controls over the ECL 
calculation process. 

 
Control testing 
We performed process walkthroughs to identify key 
systems, applications and controls associated with the ECL 
calculation process.  
Key aspects of our control testing involved the following: 
  
 Testing controls over the transfer of data between 

underlying source systems and the ECL models that the 
Group operates. 

 Performing a detailed credit risk assessment for a 
sample of performing corporate contracts to test 
controls over the credit rating and monitoring process. 

 Testing controls over the review and approval of post 
model adjustments and management overlays and the 
governance process over such overlays. 

 Testing controls over the modelling process, including 
governance over model monitoring, validation and 
approval. 

 
Tests of details 
Key aspects of our testing involved: 
 
 Reviewing a sample of credit files for performing 

accounts and evaluating the financial performance of 
the borrower, source of repayment and eligible 
collateral and on this basis assess the appropriateness 
of credit rating and staging.  
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  Sample testing over key data inputs used in estimating 
the ECL and assessing the completeness, accuracy and 
relevance of data used. 

 Re-performing key elements of the Group’s model 
calculations and assessing performance results for 
accuracy. 

 Sample testing over factors used to determine whether 
significant increase in credit risk has been appropriately 
identified. 

 Selecting a sample of post model adjustments and 
management overlays to assess the reasonableness of 
the adjustments by challenging key assumptions, testing 
the underlying calculation and tracing a sample back to 
source data. 

 Assessing the adequacy of provisions against individually 
impaired financing contracts (stage 3) in accordance with 
the applicable FAS. 

 
Use of specialists  
For the relevant portfolios examined, we have involved 
KPMG specialists to assist us in assessing IT system 
controls and challenging key management assumptions 
used in estimating expected credit losses. Key aspects of 
their involvement included the following: 

 
 We involved our Information Technology Audit 

specialists to test the relevant General IT and 
Application Controls over key systems used for data 
extraction as part of the ECL calculation process.  

 We involved our Financial Risk Management (FRM) 
specialists in: 
 Evaluating the appropriateness of the Group’s 

ECL methodologies (including the staging 
criteria used); 

 On a test check basis, re-performing the 
calculation of certain components of the ECL 
model (including the staging criteria);  

 Evaluating the appropriateness of the Group’s 
methodology for determining the economic 
scenarios used and the probability weights 
applied to them; and 

 Evaluating the overall reasonableness of the 
management forward-looking estimates by 
comparing it to external market data and our 
understanding of the underlying sector and 
macroeconomic trends. 

 
Disclosures   
We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure in 
relation to use of significant estimates and judgement and 
credit quality of financing contracts by reference to the 
requirements of relevant accounting standards. 
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Impairment of investment in real estate 

Refer to accounting policy in notes 5 (g), 5 (j) and use of estimates and judgements in note 28. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

We considered this as a key audit area we focused on 
because of: 
 
• the uncertainty prevalent in the property market; 

and 
 

• application of valuation techniques which often 
involve the exercise of judgment and the use of 
assumptions and estimates.   

 Our procedures included: 
• we involved our real estate valuation specialists, who 

used their knowledge of the industry and available 
historical data to assist us in: 
 
 evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation 

methodology used by the external, independent 
property valuers appointed by the Group; and 
  

 evaluating the reasonableness of key input and 
assumptions used in the valuation. 

 
• Assessing the qualification and experience of the 

independent property valuers and reviewing the terms 
of their engagement letter to determine whether there 
were any matters that might have affected their 
objectivity or limited their scope of work; and 
 

• evaluating the adequacy of the Group's disclosures 
related to valuation of investment in real estate by 
reference to the relevant accounting standards. 

 

Other Information 

The board of directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual report but 
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report, we obtained the board of directors’ report which forms part of the annual report, and the remaining sections of the 
annual report are expected to be made available to us after that date. 

 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

The board of directors is responsible for the Group’s undertaking to operate in accordance with Islamic Sharia Rules and 
Principles as determined by the Group’s Shariah Supervisory Board.  
 
The board of directors is also responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with FAS as issued by AAIOFI, and for such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 

Responsibilities of Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the board of directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ASIFIs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ASIFIs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the board of directors.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the board of directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group 
financial statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.  We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.    

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.  

Report on Other Regulatory Requirements 

As required by the Commercial Companies Law  2001 (as amended) and Volume 2 of the Rulebook issued by the Central 
Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”), we report that:  

a) the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements are in agreement
therewith;

b) the financial information contained in the chairman’s report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements;
c) we are not aware of any violations during the year of the Commercial Companies Law 2001 (as amended), the CBB and 

Financial Institutions Law No. 64 of 2006 (as amended), the CBB Rule Book (Volume 2, applicable provisions of Volume 
6 and CBB directives), the CBB Capital Markets Regulations and associated resolutions, the Bahrain Bourse rules and
procedures or the terms of the Bank’s memorandum and articles of association that would have had a material adverse 
effect on the business of the Bank or on its financial position; and

d) satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by management in response to all our requests.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Mahesh Balasubramanian. 

KPMG Fakhro 
Partner Registration Number 137   
11 February 2025 



Mobile User



Mobile User
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

 

 
 
 
  

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

 

     

     

Profit for the year   10,503  9,047 

     

Other comprehensive income     

Items that may subsequently be classified to income 

statement     

- Fair value changes on debt investments carried at 

fair value through other comprehensive income  

                  

1,512   (752) 

- Fair value changes on equity investments carried at 

fair value through other comprehensive income  

                    

(903)  (623) 

- Less: Attributable to quasi-equity     (740)  - 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  1,349  (1,375) 

Total comprehensive income  11,852     7,672 

     

Attributable to:     

Owners’ of the parent  11,852     7,672 

Non-controlling interest  -  - 

  11,852     7,672 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statement.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT AND ATTRIBUTION RELATED TO QUASI-EQUITY 

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

 

 Note 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

 

      

     

Profit before impairment allowances and attribution to 

quasi-equity 

 

32,966   32,074 

Adjusted for:      

Less: Income not attributable to quasi-equity  (14,752)  (13,631) 

Add:  Finance expense on due to FIs and non-FIs  45,352   41,155 

Add:  Expenses not attributable to quasi-equity  16,994   15,042 

Less: Institution’s share of income for its own/ share of 

investments 

 

(56,877)  (46,276) 

Less: Allowances for impairment and expected credit 

losses, net - attributable to quasi-equity 

 

732  - 

Total income available for quasi-equity holders   24,415  28,364 

Profit equalization reserve – net movement  -     - 

Total income attributable to quasi-equity holders   24,415  28,364 

Less: Mudarib’s share  (3,142)   (6,806) 

Less: Wakala incentive  (254)  - 

Net income attributable to quasi-equity  21,019   21,558 

Investment risk reserve – net movement  -     - 

Profit attributable to quasi-equity 
 21,019   21,558 

Other comprehensive income that may subsequently be 

classified to income statement – attributable to quasi-equity 

 

740   - 

Total comprehensive income – attributable to quasi-

equity  

 

21,759   21,558 

Less: Other comprehensive income not subject to 

immediate distribution  (740)  - 

Total comprehensive income subject to immediate 

distribution 

 

21,019   21,558 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statement.



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                                                                                                    15 

 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN OWNERS’ EQUITY 

For the year ended 31 December 2024                     

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 Equity attributable to parent’s shareholders    

2024  Share 

capital 

Statutory 

reserve 

Treasury 

shares 

Investment 

fair value 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings  

Total Perpetual 

Mudaraba 

(AT1) 

Non- 

controlling 

interest 

Total 

owners’ 

equity 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

 

Balance at 1 January 2024    84,783 12,410 (6,254) (7,165) 17,719 101,493 47,222 8,679 157,394 

Profit for the year - - - - 10,503 10,503 - - 10,503 

Other comprehensive income - - - 1,349 - 1,349 - - 1,349 

Total comprehensive income for 

the year - - - 1,349 10,503 11,852 - - 11,852 

Transfer to Statutory reserve - 1,050 - - (1,050) - - - - 

Transfer to Zakah fund - - - - (768) (768) - - (768) 

Redemption of AT1 (Note 19) - - - - (12,778) (12,778) (18,961) - (31,739) 

Conversion of AT1 (Notes 19,20) 28,261 - - - - 28,261 (28,261) - - 

Sale of shares in subsidiary (Note 

22) - - - - - - - (8,092) (8,092) 

 

Balance at 31 December 2024 113,044 13,460 (6,254) (5,816) 13,626 128,060 - 587 128,647 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN OWNERS’ EQUITY  

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)                       

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 Equity attributable to parent’s shareholders    

2023  Share 

capital 

Statutory 

reserve 

Treasury 

shares 

Investment 

fair value 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings  

Total Perpetual 

Mudaraba 

(AT1) 

Non- 

controlling 

interest 

Total 

owners’ 

equity 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

 

Balance at 1 January 2023    84,783 11,510 (6,254) (5,790) 16,171 100,420 47,222 10,128 157,770 

Profit for the year - - - - 9,003 9,003 - 44 9,047 

Other comprehensive income - - - (1,375) - (1,375) - - (1,375) 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year - - - (1,375) 9,003 7,628 - 44 7,672 

Transfer to Statutory reserve - 900 - - (900) - - - - 

Transfer to Zakah fund - - - - (555) (555) - - (555) 

Profit distribution on Perpetual 

Mudaraba - - - - (6,000) (6,000) - - (6,000) 

Loss of control  - - - - - - - (1,493) (1,493) 

 

Balance at 31 December 2023 84,783 12,410 (6,254) (7,165) 17,719 101,493 47,222 8,679 157,394 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024  

* Cash and cash equivalents is net of the expected credit loss of BD 1 thousand (31 December 2023: BD 5 thousand). 

The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  2024 
BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Profit for the year  10,503  9,047 
Adjustments:     

Depreciation  1,808  1,602 
Finance expense on term financing  15,448  10,662 
Allowances for impairment and expected credit losses, net  1,924  1,469 
Amortization of premium / discount on sukuk  2,248  2,773 

Fair value (losses) / gains  49  (1) 

Foreign exchange revaluation  67  (296) 

Amortization of right-of-use assets  390  312 

Investment securities income  (301)  (516) 

Gain on sale of investment in sukuk  (975)  (1,464) 

Gain on sale of investment in real estate  (7,612)  (4,900) 

Share of losses of associates, net  504  925 

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities  24,053  19,613 

Mandatory reserve with Central Bank of Bahrain  (3,566)  (2,597) 

Financing contracts  (90,885)  (43,426) 

Other assets  729  (3,379) 

Customers’ current accounts  39,492  26,925 

Other liabilities (2,508)  6,646 

Placements from financial institutions  (102,802)  (18,284) 

Placements from non-financial institutions and individuals  123,297  (23,363) 

Quasi-equity  (16,466)  (87,397) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (28,656)  (125,262) 

     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Purchase of sukuk   (117,581)  (126,111) 

Proceeds from sale / redemption of sukuk  137,770  159,754 

Proceeds from / (purchase of) disposal of investment in real estate, net  180  (1,675) 

Proceeds from disposal / redemption of investment securities  7,623  34,597 

Purchase of property and equipment, net  (990)  (690) 

Purchase of investment securities  -  (30,914) 

Development properties expense  -  (191) 

Net movement in margin call  4,209  1,781 

Net cash generated from investing activities 
 

31,211  36,551 

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Drawdown of term financing, net                                                                                                        (18,835)  133,406 

Finance expense paid on term financing  (15,448)  (10,662) 

Redemption of AT1 Capital  (31,739)  - 

Profit distribution on AT1 Capital  -  (6,000) 

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities 
 

(66,022)  116,744 

     

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (63,467)  28,033 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  202,371  174,338 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 
 

138,904  202,371 

     

Cash and cash equivalents comprises: *     

Cash and bank balances (excluding CBB reserve) 6 73,488  87,991 

Placement with financial institutions with original maturities of 90 days or less 

(excluding margin call account) 7 65,416  114,380 

  
138,904  202,371 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT  

For the year ended 31 December 2024                

 

 

 

The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of this consolidated financial statements.  

31 December 2024  Investment in 

real estate 

  BD ‘000 

 

Balance at 1 January 2024     

 

1,533  

Additions  -    

Recoveries / disposals / withdrawals / expenses  -    

Net movement  1,533 

Bank’s management share  -  

Distributions  -  

 

Balance at 31 December 2024 

 

1,533 

31 December 2023  Investment in 

real estate 

  BD ‘000 

 

Balance at 1 January 2023     

 

1,516  

Additions    (28)    

Recoveries / disposals / withdrawals / expenses  45    

Net movement  1,533  

Bank’s management share  -  

Distributions  -  

 

Balance at 31 December 2023 

 

1,533 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024    

   

 

1. REPORTING ENTITY 

 

Khaleeji Bank B.S.C. (formerly Khaleeji Commercial Bank B.S.C.) (the “Bank”), a public 

shareholding company, was incorporated on 24 November 2004 in the Kingdom of Bahrain under 

Commercial Registration No. 55133. The Bank operates under an Islamic retail license granted by 

the Central Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”). The Bank’s shares are listed on the Bahrain Bourse. The 

Bank’s Additional Tier 1 securities were listed on London Stock Exchange (International Securities 

Market) in 2020 and were de-listed, redeemed and converted during the year (refer to note 19). 

                 

82.95% (31 December 2023: 85.41%) of the ordinary shares of the Bank are held by GFH Financial 

Group B.S.C. (the “Parent”), a Bahraini incorporated wholesale investment bank operating under 

an Islamic wholesale banking license issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”) whose shares 

are listed on Bahrain Bourse, Boursa Kuwait, Dubai Financial Markets (“DFM”) and Abu Dhabi 

Securities Exchange (“ADX"). During March 2024, the Parent sold 25% (282,610,178 shares) of 

its stake in Khaleeji Bank B.S.C. to Southern Star Investments W.L.L., a quasi-government owned 

company. Subsequently, the Parent repurchased those shares in September 2024. Additionally, in 

May 2024, the Parent sold 6.11% (69,057,399 shares) of its stake to Royal Humanitarian 

Foundation. 

 

The Bank’s activities are regulated by the CBB and supervised by a Shari’a Supervisory Board to 

ensure adherence to Shari’a rules and principles in its activities. 

 

The principal activities of the Bank include retail and corporate banking, consumer finance, wealth 

management, structured investment products and project financing facilities which comply with 

Islamic Shari’a rules and principles as determined by the Bank’s Shari’a Supervisory Board. 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together 

“the Group”). The significant subsidiaries of the Bank are as follows: 

 

Name 

Country of 

incorporation 

% 

holding 

2024 

% 

holding 

2023 Nature of business 

Surooh Limited 
Cayman 

Islands 
75.70% 75.70% 

To construct and sell 

properties at “Oryx Hills”. 

HH Hotel Properties W.L.L.* Bahrain - 86.00% Hospitality business 

KHCB Tier 1 Sukuk Limited 
Cayman 

Islands 
100.00% 100.00% 

To issue additional tier 1 

certificates 

 

*During the year, the Group has existed its investment in HH hotel properties W.L.L. 
 

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 

Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation of 

Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and applicable rules and regulations issued by the Central 

Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”).  

 

In line with the requirements of AAOIFI and the CBB rule book, for matters not covered by AAOIFI 

standards, the group takes guidance from the relevant International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

 

3. BASIS OF MEASUREMENT  

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 

equity and debt securities that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

and structured notes that are measured at fair value through income statement. These 

consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahraini Dinars, being the functional and 

presentation currency of the Bank, rounded to the nearest Bahraini Dinars thousand (BD), except 

where otherwise indicated. 

 

4. USE OF SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 

Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going 

basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 

revised and in any future periods affected. Management believes that the underlying assumptions 

are appropriate and the Group’s consolidated financial statements therefore present the financial 

position and results fairly. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are 

disclosed in Note 28. 

 

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The significant accounting polices applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 

statements are set out below. These accounting policies have been consistently applied by the 

Group and are consistent with those used in the previous year except for change in operating 

segments (note 34) and those arising from the adoption of the following standards: 

 

i) New Standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 

 
1) FAS 1 General Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements 

 
AAOIFI has issued the revised FAS 1 General Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial 
Statements in 2021. This standard describes and improves the overall presentation and disclosure 
requirements prescribed in line with the global best practices and supersedes the earlier FAS 1.      
It is applicable to all the Islamic Financial Institutions and other institutions following AAOIFI FAS’s. 
This standard is effective for the financial reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 
with an option to early adopt.  
 
The revision of FAS 1 is in line with the modifications made to the AAOIFI conceptual framework 
for financial reporting. Significant changes relevant to the Group are; a) Definition of Quasi-equity 
is introduced; b) Concept of comprehensive income has been introduced; and c) Disclosure of 
movement in Zakah and Charity have been disclosed into the notes to the condensed consolidated 
financial information. 
 
During the period, the Group has adopted FAS 1 revised. As a result of this adoption, the following 
changes were made to the primary statements of the Group. Below is a summary of the new 
primary statements: 

 
Primary statements introduced 
Statement of other comprehensive income 
Income statement and attribution related to quasi-equity 
Statement of changes in off-balance-sheet assets under management 

 
Primary statements discontinued 
Statement of sources and uses of zakah and charity fund 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

5.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
i) New Standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2024. (CONTINUED) 

 
As a result of the adoption of FAS 1 revised certain prior year figures have been represented and 
regrouped to be consistent with the current year presentation. Such grouping did not affect 
previously reported net profit, total assets, total liabilities and total equity of the Group. Further, the 
Group has elected to present, an income statement and a statement of other comprehensive 
income as two separate statements.  For the purposes of presenting comparatives in the income 
statement and attribution related to quasi-equity, the Bank has retained the asset allocation and 
income and expense attribution policies as applicable for the respective periods. During the current 
year, certain income and expense attribution policies to quasi-equity holders were amended to 
align with the clarifications introduced by the revised FAS 1.  

 

ii) New Standards, amendments to Standards issued but not yet effective and not early 

adopted 

 

The following new standards and amendments to standards are effective for financial years 

beginning after 1 January 2024 with an option to early adopt. However, the Group has not early 

adopted any of these standards. 

 

1) FAS 45: Quasi-Equity (Including Investment Accounts) 

 

AAOIFI has issued Financial Accounting Standard (FAS) 45 "Quasi-Equity (Including Investment 

Accounts)" during 2023. The objective of this standard is to establish the principles for identifying, 

measuring, and presenting "quasi-equity" instruments in the financial statements of Islamic 

Financial Institutions “IFIs”. 

 

The standard prescribes the principles of financial reporting to participatory investment instruments 

(including investment accounts) in which an IFI controls underlying assets (mostly, as working 

partner), on behalf of the stakeholders other than owner’s equity. This standard provides the overall 

criteria for on-balance sheet accounting for participatory investment instruments and quasi-equity, 

as well as, pooling, recognition, derecognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure for 

quasi-equity. 

 

This standard shall be effective for the financial reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2026 with an option to early adopt. 

 

The Group does not expect any significant impact on the adoption of this standard. 

 

2) FAS 46: Off-Balance-Sheet Assets Under Management 
 

AAOIFI has issued Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS”) 46 "Off-Balance-Sheet Assets Under 
Management" during 2023. The objective of this standard is to establish principles and rules for 
recognition, measurement, disclosure, and derecognition of off-balance-sheet assets under 
management, based on Shari’a and international best practices. The standard aims to improve 
transparency, comparability, accountability, and governance of financial reporting related to off-
balance-sheet assets under management. 
 
This standard is applicable to all IFIs with fiduciary responsibilities over asset(s) without control, 
except for the following: 
 
The participants’ Takaful fund and / or participants’ investment fund of a Takaful institution; and an 
investment fund managed by an institution, being a separate legal entity, which is subject to 
financial reporting in line with the requirements of the respective AAOIFI FAS. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

5.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

ii) New Standards, amendments to Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

(CONTINUED) 

 

This standard shall be effective for the financial reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2026 with an option to early adopt. 

 

This standard shall be effective for the financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 with 

an option to early adopt. This standard shall be adopted at the same time as adoption of FAS 45 

“Quasi-Equity (Including Investment Accounts)”. 

 

The Group does not expect any significant impact on the adoption of this standard. 

 
3) FAS 47: Transfer of Assets Between Investment Pools 

 

AAOIFI has issued Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS”) 47 "Transfer of Assets between 

Investment Pools" during 2023. The objective of this standard is to establish guidance on the 

accounting treatment and disclosures for transfers of assets between investment pools that are 

managed by the same institution or its related parties. The standard applies to transfers of assets 

that are not part of a business combination, a disposal of a business, or a restructuring of an 

institution. 

 

The standard defines an investment pool as a group of assets that are managed together to 

achieve a common investment objective, such as a fund, a portfolio, or a trust. The standard also 

defines a transfer of assets as a transaction or event that results in a change in the legal ownership 

or economic substance of the assets, such as a sale, a contribution, a distribution, or a 

reclassification. 

 

The transfer of assets between investment pools should be accounted for based on the substance 

of the transaction and the terms and conditions of the transfer agreement. The standard classifies 

transfers of assets into three categories: transfers at fair value, transfers at carrying amount, and 

transfers at other than fair value or carrying amount. The standard also specifies the disclosure 

requirements for transfers of assets between investment pools. 

 

This standard shall be effective for the financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 with 

an option to early adopt. 

 

The Group does not expect any significant impact on the adoption of this standard. 

 

4) FAS 48: Promotional Gifts and Prizes 

 
This standard prescribes accounting and financial reporting requirements applicable to promotional 
gifts and prizes awarded by the Islamic financial institutions. The standard categorizes them into 
a) promotional gifts where entitlement to gifts is declared instantly; b) Promotional Prizes, that are 
announced in advance to be awarded at a future date and c) Loyalty Programs, where the 
obligation is accumulated over the period. 

 
This standard is effective for the financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with an 
option to early adopt. 
 
The Group does not expect any significant impact on the adoption of this standard. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

5.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

 

(i) Business combination 

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the 

acquired set of activities and assets meet the definition of a business and control is 

transferred to the Group.  

 

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are 

the identifiable net assets acquired.  Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess 

of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-

controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable tangible and 

intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually 

for impairment.  Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity 

securities. 

 

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an 

obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of financial instrument is 

classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity.  

Otherwise, other contingent consideration is re-measured at fair value at each reporting date 

and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in 

profit or loss. 

 

(ii)  Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are those enterprises (including special purpose entities) controlled by the 

Bank. The Group controls a business if, and only if, it has a) power over the business b) 

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the business; and c) the 

ability to use its power over the business to affect the amount of the institution’s returns.  

 

Power is presumed when an entity directly, or indirectly through its subsidiaries, holds more 

than 50% of the voting rights.  Where the Group has less than majority voting rights, control 

may exist through a) agreement with other shareholders or the business itself; b) rights 

arising from other contractual arrangements; c) the institution’s voting rights (de facto power); 

d)  potential voting rights; or e)  a combination thereof. 

 

The Group considers only substantive voting rights in its assessment of whether it has power 

over a business. In order to be substantive, rights need to be exercisable when relevant 

decisions are required to be made and the holder of such rights must have the practical 

ability to exercise those rights.  When making an assessment of whether the Group controls 

a business, it considers the voting and other rights emanating from the investment in the 

business duly funded by the Group itself and its Quasi-equity.   

 

The Group in its ordinary course of business may manage an asset or a business for the 

benefit of stakeholders other than its equity holders through an agency (usually investment 

agency) or similar arrangement. Control does not include situations whereby the institution 

has the power, but such power is exercisable in a fiduciary capacity, and not for the variable 

returns to the institution itself. Performance incentives receivable by an agent are in a 

fiduciary capacity, and hence not considered to be variable returns for the purpose of control 

assessment. 

  

Non-controlling interests (NCI) 

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the 

acquisition date. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss 

of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 

 

 

 



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                24 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

5.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Funds under management 

The Group in its fiduciary capacity manages and administers assets held in trust and other 

investment vehicles on behalf of investors. The financial statements of SPE are not included 

in these consolidated financial statements except when the Group controls the entity. 

Information about the Group’s fiduciary assets under management is set out in note 29. 

These assets and income arising thereon are not included in the Group’s financial 

statements as they are not assets of the Group. 

 

(iii)   Equity accounted investees 

The Group’s interests in equity accounted investees comprise interests in associates and a 

joint venture. 

 

Associates are those entities over which the Group holds exercises significant influence, but 

not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies. A Joint venture is an 

arrangement in which the Group has joint control whereby the Group has rights to the net 

assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.  

These are accounted for using the equity method. 

 

Investments in associates and joint ventures are initially recognised at cost including 

transactions cost and the carrying amount is adjusted to recognise the Group’s share of the 

post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee after the date of acquisition. Distributions 

received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the 

carrying amount may also be necessary for changes in the investor’s proportionate interest 

in the investee arising from changes in the investee’s equity. When the Group’s share of 

losses exceeds its interest in the investee, the Group’s carrying amount is reduced to nil and 

recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Group has incurred 

legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. The carrying 

amount of the equity accounted investee is tested for impairment in accordance with the 

policy described in note 5(i)(ii). 

 

(iv)  Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Intra-group 

gains on transactions between the Group and its equity accounted associates are eliminated 

to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investees. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 

in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 

impairment. Accounting policies of the subsidiaries and associates have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 

(b) Foreign currency transactions 

 
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 

currency’). The Bank has identified Bahraini dinars (BD) as its functional currency.  

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. Translation differences 

on non-monetary items carried at their fair value, such as certain equity securities measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income, are included in investments fair value reserve. The 

other Group companies functional currencies are either denominated in Bahraini dinars or US 

dollars; however, the Bahraini dinar is effectively pegged to the US dollar. Hence, the translation 

of financial statements of the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 

presentation currency do not result in an exchange difference.  
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5       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

(c) Investment securities 

Investment securities comprise investments in equity-type instruments and investments in debt-

type instruments. Investment securities exclude investments in subsidiaries and equity accounted 

investees (refer note 5(a)). 

 

(i) Classification 

The Group segregates its investment into following categories: 

 

i) Equity-type instruments - instruments that evidence a residual interest in the assets of an entity 

after deducting all its liabilities and quasi-equity balances, including ordinary equity instruments 

and such other structured investment instruments that classify as equity instrument.  

 

ii) Debt-type instruments: 

Monetary debt-type instruments - instruments whereby the transaction structure results in 

creation of a financial liability / debt such as Murabaha payable.  

 

Non-monetary debt-type instruments - instruments whereby the transaction structure results in 

creation of a non-financial liability, such as goods (Salam or Istisna’a) or usufruct (Ijarah 

Mawsufah fi al-Dhimmah) or services (service Ijarah) to be delivered in future. 

 

The Group classifies its investments on initial recognition as measured at: (a) amortised cost, 

(b) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or (c) fair value through income 

statement (“FVTIS”). 

 

Amortised cost 

An investment shall be measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:  

a) the investment is held within a business model whose objective is to hold such investment 

in order to collect expected cash flows till maturity of the instrument; and 

b) the investment represents either a debt-type instrument or other investment instrument 

having reasonably determinable effective yield.  

 

Fair value through OCI 

An investment shall be measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions 

are met:  

a) the investment is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 

collecting expected cash flows and selling the investment; and  

b) the investment represents a non-monetary debt-type instrument or other investment 

instrument having reasonably determinable effective yield.  

 

Irrevocable classification at initial recognition  

On initial recognition, an institution may make an irrevocable election to designate a particular 

investment, at initial recognition, being 

 

a) an equity-type instrument that would otherwise be measured at fair value through income 

statement – to present subsequent changes in fair value in equity 

 

b) a non-monetary debt-type instrument or other investment instrument – as measured at fair 

value through income statement if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring 

assets or correlated liabilities or quasi-equity or recognizing the gains and losses on them 

on different bases. This shall, however, be subject to the Shari'a requirements with regard 

to the attribution of, and distribution of such gains to the respective stakeholders.  

  

Fair value through income statement 

All other investments are measured at FVTIS. 
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   5.         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

             (c)  Investment securities (continued) 

 

Business model assessment 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is 

held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 

information is provided to management. The information considered includes: 

 

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 

practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 

profit, maintaining practical profit rate profile and realising cash flows through the sale of 

the assets; 

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s 

management; 

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held 

within that business model) and how those risks are managed; and 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and 

its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not 

considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated 

objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised. 

 

Investments that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a 

fair value basis are measured at FVTIS.  

 

(ii)  Recognition and de-recognition 

Investment securities are recognised at the trade date i.e. the date that the Group contracts 

to purchase or sell the asset, at which date the Group becomes party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. 

 

Investment securities are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 

financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risk and 

rewards of ownership. 

 

(iii)  Measurement 

Investment securities are measured initially at fair value, which is the value of the 

consideration given. For FVTIS investments, transaction costs are expensed in the income 

statement. For other investment securities, transaction costs are included as a part of the 

initial recognition. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments carried at FVTIS and FVTOCI are re-measured 

to fair value. Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of investments carried 

at FVTIS are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise. Gains and 

losses arising from a change in the fair value of investments carried at FVTOCI are recognised 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and presented in a separate fair value 

reserve within equity. The fair value gains/losses are recognised taking into consideration the 

split between portions related to owners’ equity and Quasi-equity. When the investments 

carried at FVTOCI are sold, impaired, collected or otherwise disposed of, the cumulative gain 

or loss previously recognised in the statement of changes in equity is transferred to the income 

statement. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, debt-type securities, other than those carried at FVTIS, are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method less any impairment allowances. 
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             (c)  Investment securities (continued) 

 

  Following measurement principles are followed: 

 

A. Amortised cost measurement 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 

liability is measured at initial recognition, minus capital repayments, plus or minus the 

cumulative amortisation using the effective profit method of any difference between the initial 

amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction (directly or through use of 

an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectability. The calculation of the effective profit 

rate includes all fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective profit 

rate. 

 

B. Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date.  

 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally 

the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received.   

 

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted 

price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions 

for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing 

information on an ongoing basis. 

 

If a market for a financial instrument is not active or there is no market, the Group establishes 

fair value using well-recognised valuation techniques that may include recent arm’s length 

transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), discounted cash flows or 

market multiples for similar instruments. 

 

Some or all of the inputs into these models may not be market observable, but are estimated 

based on assumptions. Inputs to valuation techniques reasonably represent market 

expectations and measures of the risk-return factors inherent in the financial instrument. 

 

Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore, 

cannot be determined with precision. There is no certainty about future events (such as 

continued operating profits and financial strengths). It is reasonably possible, based on 

existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year that are different from 

assumptions could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the investments. 

 

In determining fair valuation, the Group in many instances relies on the financial data of 

investees and on estimates by the management of the investee companies as to the effect of 

future developments. 

 

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less 

than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount 

could be required to be paid. 

 

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the 

reporting period during which the change has occurred. 
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(d) Financing contracts 

Financing contracts comprise Shari’a compliant financing contracts with fixed or determinable 

payments. These include financing provided through Murabaha, Musharaka, Mudharaba, Istisna, 

Wakala contracts and lease-based financing contracts (“Ijarah assets”). Financing contracts are 

recognised on the date they are originated and are carried at their amortised cost less impairment 

allowances, if any. 

 

Modification of financing contracts 

If the terms of the financing contracts are modified then the Group evaluates whether the cashflows 

of the modified asset are substantially different. If the cashflows are substantially different, then the 

contractual rights to cashflows from the original financing asset are deemed to have expired. In 

this case, the original financing contracts is derecognised and a new financing contracts is 

recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction cost. 

 

If the modification of a financing contract measured at amortized cost does not result in the 

derecognition of the financing contracts then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount 

of the financing contracts using the original effective profit rate of the asset and recognises the 

resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. 

 

All Sharia compliant contracts are interpreted for accounting purposes in its entirety and all linked 

-contracts or promissory note arrangements are considered together with the main financing 

contract to reflect the single economic outcome and purpose of the contracts. 

 

(d)-(i) Murabaha financing (trade-based-contracts) 

Murabaha is a contract whereby one party ("Seller") sells an asset to the other party ("Purchaser") 

at cost plus profit and on a deferred payment basis, after the Seller has purchased the asset based 

on the Purchaser’s promise to purchase the same on such Murabaha basis. The sale price 

comprises the cost of the asset and an agreed profit margin. The sale price (cost plus the profit 

amount) is paid by the Purchaser to the Seller on installment basis over the agreed finance tenure. 

Under the Murabaha contract, the Group may act either as a Seller or a Purchaser, as the case 

may be. 

 

(d)-(ii) Mudaraba financing (participatory-based-contracts) 

Mudaraba is a contract between two parties whereby one party is a fund provider (Rab Al Mal) who 

would provide certain amount of funds (Mudaraba Capital), to the other party (Mudarib). Mudarib 

would then invest the Mudaraba Capital in a specific enterprise or activity deploying its experience 

and expertise for a specific pre-agreed share in the resultant profit. The Rab Al Mal is not involved 

in the management of the Mudaraba activity. The Mudarib would bear the loss in case of its default, 

negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba contract; otherwise the 

loss would be borne by the Rab Al Mal. Under the Mudaraba contract, the Group may act either as 

Mudarib or as Rab Al Mal, as the case may be. The Group’s financing contracts includes terms 

that delivers an effective profit rate based on agreed terms of repayment. 

 

             (d)-(iii) Ijarah asset (lease-based contracts)  

Ijarah assets (Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any impairment. Under the terms of lease, the legal title of the asset passes to the lessee at the 

end of the lease term (as a gift), provided that all lease instalments are settled. Depreciation is 

calculated using rates that systematically reduce the cost of the leased assets over the period of 

the lease in a pattern of economic benefits arising from these assets (usually similar to the effective 

profit method). The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence 

that the ijarah assets are impaired. Impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of 

an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses, if any, are recognised in 

the income statement. The estimates of future cash flows, when dependent on a single customer, 

takes into consideration the credit evaluation of the respective customer in addition to other factors. 
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5.         SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

(d)-(iv) POCI financial assets 

Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired (POCI) financial assets are assets that are credit-impaired 

on initial recognition. For POCI assets, lifetime ECL are incorporated into the calculation of the 

effective profit rate on initial recognition. Consequently, POCI assets do not carry an impairment 

allowance on initial recognition. The amount recognized as a loss allowance subsequent to initial 

recognition is equal to the changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition of the asset. 

 

(e) Placements with and from financial institutions, non-financial institutions and 

individuals 

These comprise inter-bank and over the counter customer placements made/received using 

Shari’a compliant contracts. Placements are usually for short-term and are stated at their amortised 

cost. 

 

(f) Cash and cash equivalents  

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and 

bank balances (excluding CBB reserve account margin calls), and placement with financial 

institutions with original maturities of three months or less when acquired which are subject to 

insignificant risk of changes in fair value and are used by the Group in the management of its short-

term commitments. 

 

(g) Investment in real estate 

Investment property 

Real estate properties held for rental, or for capital appreciation purposes, or both, are classified 

as investment property. Investment property are carried at cost less depreciation and impairment 

allowances. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 

investment property. Investment property includes plots of land held for undetermined use and 

property leased to third parties. Land is not depreciated.  

 

Development property  

Development property is measured at lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is 

the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less costs to complete development 

and selling expenses. 

 

(h) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 

allowances, if any. Property includes land which is not depreciated. Other equipment is depreciated 

using the straight-line method to write-off the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives as 

follows: 

 

Buildings   Up to 25 years 

Furniture and fixtures 3 to 5 years 

Computers   3 to 5 years 

Motor vehicles  3 to 5 years 

Hotels   Up to 40 years 

Other equipment’s  3 to 5 years 

 

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

reporting date. 
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

(i) Impairment of financial instruments 

 

i) Exposures subject to credit risk  

 

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on: 

 

▪ Cash and bank balances; 

 

▪ Placements with financial institutions; 

 

▪ Financing contracts; 

 

▪ Investments in Sukuk - debt-type securities(amortised cost and FVTOCI); and 

 

▪ Undrawn financing commitments and financial guarantee contracts issued; and 
 

▪ Other financial assets  

  

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the 

following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs: 

➢ Debt-type securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 

 

➢ other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the 

expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition. 

 

When determining whether the credit risk of an exposure subject to credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and 

supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes 

both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical 

experience and informed credit assessment including forward-looking information. 

 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is 

more than 30 days past due (refer note 38). 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

 

➢ The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse 

by the Group to actions such as realising security, if any is held; or 

 

➢ The financial asset is 90 days or more past due 

 

 The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent 

to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The Group considers this to A- or higher 

as per the banks relevant approved external credit rating agencies. Zero percent risk weighted 

entities are considered have low credit risk.  

 

The Group applies a three-stage approach to measuring ECL on exposures subject to credit risk. 

Assets migrate through the following three stages based on the change in credit quality since 

initial recognition.  

 

Stage 1: 12-months ECL 

Stage 1 includes exposures subject to credit risk on initial recognition and that do not have a 

significant increase in risk since initial recognition or that have low credit risk. 12-month ECL is 

the expected credit losses from default events that are possible within 12 months after the 

reporting date. It is not the expected cash shortfalls over the 12-month period but the entire credit 

loss on an asset weighted by the probability that the loss will occur in the next 12-months. 
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(i)Impairment of financial instruments (continued) 

 

i) Exposures subject to credit risk (continued) 

 

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 

 

Stage 2 includes exposures subject to credit risk that have had a significant increase in 

credit risk since initial recognition but that do not have objective evidence of impairment. 

For these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised. Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses 

that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

Expected credit losses are the weighted average credit losses with the life-time probability 

of default (‘PD’). 

 

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 

 

Stage 3 includes exposures subject to credit risk that have objective evidence of impairment 

at the reporting date in accordance with the indicators specified in the CBB’s rule book. For 

these assets, lifetime ECL is recognised.  

 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period 

over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 

 

Measurement of ECLs 

 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 

 

➢ Financing contracts that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present 

value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). 

 

➢ Financing contracts that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference 

between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows; 

 

➢ Undrawn financing commitment: as the present value of the difference between the 

contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn and the 

cash flows that the Group expects to receive;  

 

➢ Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any 

amounts that the Group expects to recover; and  

 

➢ Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those assets that are credit-

impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is measured on a lifetime basis (stage 3). 

 

ECLs are discounted at the effective profit rate of the financial instrument. 
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(i)Impairment of financial instruments (continued) 
i) Exposures subject to credit risk (continued) 

 

Credit-impaired exposures 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether exposures subject to credit risk are 

credit-impaired. An exposure is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the exposure have occurred. 

Evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

 

➢ Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

➢ A breach of contract such as a default or being 90 days or more past due  or more; 

➢ The restructuring of a financing facility or advance by the Group on terms that the Group 

would not consider otherwise; 

➢ It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

or 

➢ The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and ijarah assets are 

deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. Loss on undrawn commitments and 

financial guarantees are disclosed in other liabilities. For dept instruments measure at 

FVTOCI no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of financial position because the 

carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance disclosed 

and is recognized in the investment fair value reserve. 

 

ii) Impairment of equity investments classified at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

In the case of investments in equity securities classified as FVTOCI, a significant or prolonged 

decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is an objective evidence of impairment. 

The Group considers a decline of 30% to be significant and a period of nine months to be 

prolonged. If any such evidence exists, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 

between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 

investment previously recognised in the income statement – is removed from equity and 

recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement 

on equity instruments are subsequently reversed through equity. 

 

(j) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets (other than for financial assets and 

development property covered in 5(g) above), are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's 

recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value 

in use or fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 

amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 

recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses are reversed only if there is an 

indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit. An impairment loss is recognised 

whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. Impairment losses are reversed only if there is an indication that the 

impairment loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount. 
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             (j) Impairment of non-financial instruments (continued) 

 

The Group conducts impairment assessment of investment property periodically using external 

independent property valuers to value the property. The fair value is determined based on the 

market value of the property using either sales comparable approach, the residual value basis, 

replacement cost or the market value of the property considering its current physical condition. 

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Bahrain ,UAE and KSA. Given the 

dislocation in the property market and infrequent property transactions, it is reasonably 

possible, based on existing knowledge, that the current assessment of impairment could 

require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of these assets within the next financial 

year due to significant changes in assumptions underlying such assessments. 

 

(k) Customers’ current accounts 

Balances in current (non-investment) accounts are recognised when received by the Group. 

The transaction are measured at the cash equivalent amount received by the Group at the time 

of contracting. At the end of the accounting period, the accounts are measured at their book 

value. 

 

(l) Quasi equity     

Quasi equity are funds held by the Group in unrestricted investment accounts, which it can 

invest at its own discretion. The quasi equity holders authorise the Group to invest the quasi 

equity funds in a manner which the Group deems appropriate without laying down any 

restrictions as to where, how and for what purpose the funds should be invested. Quasi equity 

assets include unrestricted Mudarabah and comingled wakala funds in the Mudarib pool of the 

Bank.  

 

The Group operates a single mudarib pool and charges management fee (Mudarib fees) to 

quasi equity. Of the total income from investment accounts, the income attributable to 

customers is allocated to quasi equity after setting aside provisions, reserves (Profit 

equalisation reserve and Investment risk reserve) and deducting the Group’s share of income 

as a Mudarib. The allocation of income is determined by the management of the Group within 

the allowed profit sharing limits as per the terms and conditions of the investment accounts. 

Only the income earned on pool of assets funded from quasi equity are allocated between the 

owners’ equity and quasi equity holders. Administrative expenses incurred in connection with 

the management of the funds are borne directly by the Group and are not charged separately 

to investment accounts. 

 

The Group allocates collective provision on stage 1 and stage 2 customers to quasi equity 

holders and owners’ equity whereas allocate specific provision only to owners’ equity. Amounts 

recovered from these impaired assets is not subject to allocation between the quasi equity and 

owners’ equity. 

 

Quasi equity are carried at their book values and include amounts retained towards 

investments fair value reserve, profit equalisation, and investment risk reserves, if any. Profit 

equalisation reserve is the amount appropriated by the Group out of the Mudharaba income, 

before allocating the Mudarib share, in order to maintain a certain level of return to the quasi 

equity holders on the investments. Investment risk reserve is the amount appropriated by the 

Group out of the income of quasi equity, after allocating the Mudarib share, in order to cater 

against future losses for quasi equity holders. Creation of any of these reserves results in an 

increase in the liability towards the pool of unrestricted investment accounts. Quasi-equity 

holders include participatory investment accounts (unrestricted investment accounts). 

 

 

 

 

 

 



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                34 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 
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(m) Assets under management  

Assets under management include funds provided by holders on a restricted investment 

account, and their equivalent measured using similar accounting policies as the Group and 

managed by the Group as an investment manager based on either a Mudaraba contract or 

agency contract. The restricted investment accounts are exclusively restricted for investment 

in specified projects / assets as directed by the investments accountholders. Assets that are 

held in such capacity are not included as assets of the Group in the consolidated financial 

statements, and as presented in the statement of off-balance-sheet assets under 

management. 

 

(n) Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when 

due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is 

recognised from the date of its issue. The liability arising from a financial guarantee contract is 

recognised at the present value of any expected payment, when a payment under the 

guarantee has become probable. 

 

(o) Treasury shares 

The amount of consideration paid including all directly attributable costs incurred in connection 

with the acquisition of the treasury shares are recognised in equity. Consideration received on 

sale of treasury shares is presented in the financial statements as a change in equity. No gain 

or loss is recognised in the income statement on sale of treasury shares. 

 

(p) Statutory reserve 

The Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001 requires that 10 per cent of the annual net 

profit be appropriated to a statutory reserve which is normally distributable only on dissolution. 

Appropriations may cease when the reserve reaches 50 per cent of the paid up share capital. 

  

(q) Revenue recognition  

Income from financing contracts are recognised on a time-apportioned basis over the period 

of the contract using the effective profit method. 

 

Income from sukuk and structured note and income/expenses on placements is 

recognised at its effective profit rate over the term of the instrument. 

 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive is established. 

 

Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the contract. 

 

Gain on sale of investment in equity securities and structured note is recognised on trade 

date at the time of derecognition of the investment securities. The gain or loss is the difference 

between the carrying value on the trade date and the consideration received or receivable. 

 

Fees and commission income that are integral to the effective profit rate on a financial asset 

carried at amortised cost are included in the measurement of the effective profit rate of the 

financial asset. Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, sales 

commission, management fees, placement and arrangement fees and syndication fees, are 

recognised as the related services are performed. 

 

Income on disposal of real estate is recognized at the time of sale as the difference between 

the carrying value and the consideration received or receivables. 
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(r) Earnings prohibited by Shari’a 

The Group is committed to avoid recognising any income generated from non-shari’a compliant 

sources. Accordingly, all income prohibited by shari’a is credited to a charity account where 

the Group uses these funds for social welfare purposes. 

 

(s) Zakah 

Zakah is calculated on the Zakah base of the Group in accordance with FAS 39 Zakah using 

the net assets method. Zakah is calculated and paid by the Group based on the eligible reserve 

and retained earnings balances at the end of the year and the remaining Zakah is payable by 

individual shareholders. The Group calculates and notifies the shareholders of their pro-rata 

share of the Zakah payable annually. The Group also pays Zakah on the balance of treasury 

shares held at the year-end based on the pro-rata share of Zakah. The calculations of Zakah 

is approved by the Shari’a Supervisory Board. Payment of Zakah on the unrestricted 

investment and other accounts is the responsibility of the relevant account holders. As Zakah 

is not required to be paid by law or by virtue of its constitution documents of the Banks, the 

Bank considers itself as an agent to pay Zakah on behalf of its shareholders, and any amount 

paid in respect of Zakah is adjusted within equity of the owners of the Bank. 

 

(t) Employee benefits 

(i)  Short-term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is recognised for the amount expected 

to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal 

or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 

employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

(ii)  Post-employment benefits 

Pensions and other social benefits for Bahraini employees are covered by the Social Insurance 

Organisation scheme, which is a “defined contribution scheme” in nature, and to which 

employees and employers contribute monthly on a fixed-percentage-of-salaries basis. 

Contributions by the Group are recognised as an expense in income statement when they are 

due. 

 

Expatriate employees on fixed contracts are entitled to leaving indemnities payable under the 

Bahraini Labour Law, based on length of service and final remuneration. Provision for this 

unfunded commitment has been made by calculating the notional liability had all employees 

left at the reporting date. 

 

Effective 1 March 2024, all Bahrain based employers are required to make monthly 

contributions in relation to the expatriate indemnity to SIO, who would be responsible to settle 

leaving indemnities for expatriates at the time of end of service. Any indemnity liability prior to 

1 March 2024 and pending transfer to the SIO in subsequent periods remains the obligation of 

the Company.  

  

The Group also operates a voluntary employees saving scheme under which the Group and 

the employee contribute monthly on a fixed percentage of salaries basis. The scheme is 

managed and administered by a board of trustees who are employees of the Group. The 

scheme is in the nature of a defined contribution scheme and contributions by the Group are 

recognised as an expense in the income statement when they are due. 
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(iii)  Deferred share-based annual incentives 

In line with its variable remuneration policy, the Group awards a component of its annual 

bonuses for certain covered employees (material risk-takers and approved persons) in the form 

of deferred incentives that are released proportionately over a period of three years.  The 

deferred incentives include a cash component and a share component. The deferred 

incentives are cash-settled on each release date based on the most recent book value per 

share of the Bank.  The deferred incentive liability is carried at their settlement amounts at each 

reporting date and any changes in the carrying value of the liability is recognized as an expense 

or release in the income statement of the reporting period.  The grant-date fair value of equity-

settled share-based payment arrangements granted to employees is generally recognised as 

an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. 

The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which 

the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that 

the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related 

service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. 

 

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the 

share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for 

differences between expected and actual outcomes. All deferred incentives are subject to 

malus and clawback provisions. 

 

(u) Dividends and board remuneration 

Dividends to shareholders and board remuneration are recognised as liabilities in the period in 

which they are declared. 

 

(v) Trade date accounting 

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. 

the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 

(w) Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legal or Shari’a based enforceable 

right to set-off the recognised amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, 

or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

(x) Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 

 

(y) URIA Protection Scheme 

Funds held with the Group in investment accounts and current accounts are covered by the 

Deposit and URIA Protection Scheme (‘the Scheme’) established by the Central Bank of 

Bahrain regulation in accordance with Resolution No (34) of 2010. An annual contribution is 

made to the scheme and is recognised as an expense when due. 

 

The Scheme applies to all eligible accounts held with the Group subject to certain specific 

exclusions, maximum total amount entitled and other regulations governing the establishment 

of a Deposit and URIA Protection Scheme and a Deposit Protection Board.  

 

(z) Repossessed assets 

In certain circumstance, properties are repossessed following the foreclosure on financing 

facilities that are in default. Repossessed properties are measured at the lower of carrying 

value and fair value less cost to sell. Repossessed properties that are not held-for-sale and 

remain unsold for more than 12 months are classified as investment in real estate based on its 

intended use. 

 



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                37 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

5.          SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

(aa) Term financing from financial institutions 

Term financing from financial institutions represents borrowing obtained through murabaha 

contract recognized on the origination date and carried at amortized cost. Expense on such 

contracts are recognized on a time-apportioned basis using the effective profit method. 

 

(bb) Onerous contracts 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by 

the Group from the contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations 

under the contract.  The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected 

cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract.   

 

(cc) Ijarah 

 

Identifying an Ijarah 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is Ijarah, or contains an Ijarah. 

A contract is Ijarah, or contains an Ijarah if the contract transfers the usufruct (but not control) of 

an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for an agreed consideration. For Ijarah contracts 

with multiple components, the Group accounts for each Ijarah component within a contract 

separately from non-Ijarah components of the contract (e.g. service fee, maintenance charges, toll 

manufacturing charges etc.). 

 

Measurement 

For a contract that contains an Ijarah component and one or more additional Ijarah or non-Ijarah 

components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each Ijarah component on 

the basis of relative stand-alone price of the Ijarah component and the aggregate estimated stand-

alone price of the non-Ijarah components, that may be charged by the lessor, or a similar supplier, 

to the lessee. At the commencement date, a lessee shall recognise a right-of-use (usufruct) asset 

and a net ijarah liabilities. 

 

(i) Right-of-use (usufruct) asset 

On initial recognition, the lessee measures the right-of-use asset at cost. The cost of the right-of-

use asset comprises of: 

- the prime cost of the right-of-use asset; 

- initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and 

- dismantling or decommissioning costs. 

 

The prime cost is reduced by the expected terminal value of the underlying asset. If the prime cost 

of the right-of-use asset is not determinable based on the underlying cost method (particularly in 

the case of an operating Ijarah), the prime cost at commencement date may be estimated based 

on the fair value of the total consideration paid/ payable (i.e. total Ijarah rentals) against the right-

of-use assets, under a similar transaction. As per the group's assessment, at the time of 

implementation the fair value of right-of-use assets are equal to the net Ijarah liabilities.  

 

After the commencement date, the lessee measures the right-of-use asset at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, adjusted for the effect of any Ijarah modification 

or reassessment.    

 

The Group amortises the right-of-use asset from the commencement date to the end of the useful 

economic life of the right-of-use asset, according to a systematic basis that is reflective of the 

pattern of utilization of benefits from the right-of-use asset. The amortizable amount comprises of 

the right-of-use asset less residual value, if any. 
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The Group determines the Ijarah term, including the contractually binding period, as well as 

reasonably certain optional periods, including: 

• extension periods if it is reasonably certain that the Bank will exercise that option; and/ or  

• termination options if it is reasonably certain that the Bank will not exercise that option. 

 

Advance rentals paid are netted-off with the gross Ijarah liabilities. 

 

The Group carries out impairment assessment in line with the requirements of FAS 30 “Impairment, 

Credit Losses and Onerous Commitments” to determine whether the right-of-use asset is impaired 

and to account for any impairment losses. The impairment assessment takes into consideration 

the salvage value, if any. Any related commitments, including promises to purchase the underlying 

asset, are also considered in line with FAS 30 “Impairment, Credit Losses and Onerous 

Commitments”. 

 

The net ijarah liabilities comprises of the gross Ijarah liabilities, plus deferred Ijarah cost (shown as 

a contra-liability). The gross Ijarah liabilities is initially recognised as the gross amount of total Ijarah 

rental payables for the Ijarah term. The rentals payable comprise of the following payments for the 

right to use the underlying asset during the Ijarah term: 

• fixed Ijarah rentals less any incentives receivable; 

• variable Ijarah rentals including supplementary rentals; and 

• payment of additional rentals, if any, for terminating the Ijarah (if the Ijarah term reflects the 

lessee exercising the termination option).  

 

Variable Ijarah rentals are Ijarah rentals that depend on an index or rate, such as payments linked 

to a consumer price index, financial markets, regulatory benchmark rates, or changes in market 

rental rates. Supplementary rentals are rentals contingent on certain items, such as additional 

rental charge after provision of additional services or incurring major repair or maintenance. As of 

31 December 2024, the Group did not have any contracts with variable or supplementary rentals. 

 

After the commencement date, the Group measures the net Ijarah liabilities by: 

• increasing the net carrying amount to reflect return on the Ijarah liabilities (amortisation of 

deferred Ijarah cost) 

• reducing the carrying amount of the gross Ijarah liabilities to reflect the Ijarah rentals paid 

• re-measuring the carrying amount in the event of reassessment or modifications to Ijarah 

contract, or to reflect revised Ijarah rentals  

 

The deferred Ijarah cost is amortised to income over the Ijarah terms on a time proportionate basis, 

using the effective rate of return method. After the commencement date, the Group recognises the 

following in the income statement: 

• amortisation of deferred Ijarah cost; and 

• Variable Ijarah rentals (not already included in the measurement of Ijarah liabilities) as and 

when the triggering events/ conditions occur 

 

Ijarah contract modifications 

After the commencement date, the Group accounts for Ijarah contract modifications as follows: 

• change in the Ijarah term: re-calculation and adjustment of the right-of-use asset, the Ijarah 

liabilities, and the deferred Ijarah cost; or 

• change in future Ijarah rentals only: re-calculation of the Ijarah liabilities and the deferred Ijarah 

cost only, without impacting the right-of-use asset. 

 

An Ijarah modification is considered as a new Ijarah component to be accounted for as a separate 

Ijarah for the lessee, if the modification both additionally transfers the right to use of an identifiable 

underlying asset and the Ijarah rentals are increased corresponding to the additional right-of-use 

asset. For modifications not meeting any of the conditions stated above, the Group considers the 

Ijarah as a modified Ijarah as of the effective date and recognises a new Ijarah transaction.              
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The Group recalculates the Ijarah liabilities, deferred Ijarah cost, and right-of-use asset, and de-

recognise the existing Ijarah transaction and balances. 

 

Expenses relating to underlying asset 

Operational expenses relating to the underlying asset, including any expenses contractually 

agreed to be borne by the Bank, are recognised by the Bank in income statement in the period 

incurred. Major repair and maintenance, takaful, and other expenses incidental to ownership of 

underlying assets (if incurred by lessee as agent) are recorded as receivable from lessor. 

 

Recognition exemptions and simplified accounting for the lessee 

The Group has elected not to apply the requirements of Ijarah recognition and measurement of 

recognizing right-of-use asset and lease liabilities for the following: 

• short-term Ijarah; and 

• Ijarah for which the underlying asset is of low value. 

 

Short-term Ijarah exemption can be applied on a whole class of underlying assets if they have 

similar characteristics and operational utility. However, low-value Ijarah exemption can only be 

applied on an individual asset/ Ijarah transaction, and not on group/ combination basis. 

 

6. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

 

31 December 
2024 

BD ‘000 
  

31 December 
2023 

BD ‘000 
 

Cash 3,729  3,081 

Balances with banks 5,491  44,374 

Balances with the Central Bank:     

- Reserve account 31,958  28,392 

- Current account  892  40,537 

Other short-term balances 63,376  - 

Less: impairment allowance -  (1) 

    

 105,446  116,383 

 

The reserve account with the Central Bank of Bahrain is not available for day-to-day operational 

purposes. Other short-term balances represents balances with maturities of 7 days or less. 

 

7. PLACEMENTS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

 31 December 
2024 

BD ‘000  

31 December 
2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Gross Murabaha receivable 65,532  114,517 

Margin call accounts 5,601  9,810 

Less: Deferred profits on Murabaha (115)  (133) 

Less: Impairment allowance (1)  (4) 

 

        71,017  124,190 

 

The margin call accounts requirement is against term financing from financial institutions and 

investment in sukuk held at fair value through other comprehensive income and is not available for 

day-to-day operational purposes. 
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8. INVESTMENT IN SUKUK 

 

31 December 

2024  

31 December 

2023 

 BD ‘000  BD ‘000 

    

Debt type instruments - at amortised cost:    

- Quoted sukuk*  419,267  400,012 

- Unquoted sukuk 1,317  1,317 

Less: expected credit losses (2,096)  (1,617) 

      
Debt type instruments – at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

  
 

  

- Quoted sukuk** 54,502  64,737 

      
Equity type instruments – at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

  
 

  

- Quoted sukuk 29,149  58,297 

    

         502,139  522,746 

 

* As of 31 December 2024, out of sovereign sukuk of BD 360,200 thousand (31 December 2023: 

BD 357,234 thousand) and corporate sukuk of BD 59,067 thousand (31 December 2023: 

BD 42,778 thousand), BD 272,028 thousand (31 December 2023: BD 271,520 thousand) were 

pledged against term financing from financial institutions of BD 245,526 thousand 

(31 December 2023: BD 264,362 thousand) (refer note 16). 

 

** Fair value loss reserve amounted to BD 4,895 thousand (31 December 2023: BD 6,404 

thousand) out of which BD 4 thousand is related to expected credit losses (2023: BD 29 thousand). 

 

9. FINANCING CONTRACTS 

 

 

31 December 
2024  

31 December 
2023 

 BD ‘000  BD ‘000 

    

Murabaha (net of deferred profit)* 491,297  352,667 

Mudaraba 6,818  7,753 

Ijarah assets (note 9.1) 244,043  210,818 

Gross financing contracts       742,158   571,238 

Less: Impairment allowance       (20,991)  (22,951) 

     

Net financing contracts 721,167  548,287 

 
* Murabaha financing contacts are net of deferred profits of BD 15,718 thousand (31 December 
2023: BD 15,731 thousand). 
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9.1.  Movement in ijarah assets is as follows: 

 

31 December 
2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 
2023 

BD ‘000 

Cost    

At 1 January 271,331  246,944 

Additions during the year 48,746  44,365 

Settlements during the year (5,984)  (19,978) 

 
At 31 December 314,093 

 
271,331 

    

Accumulated depreciation / amortization    

At 1 January 60,513  58,479 

Charge for year 23,616  22,822 

Settlements during the year (14,079)  (20,788) 

 
At 31 December 70,050 

 
60,513 

 
Net book value at 31 December 244,043  210,818 

 
9.2 The future minimum lease receivable (excluding future profits) in aggregate are as follows:: 

 

 31 December 
2024 

BD ‘000  

31 December 
2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Due within one year 19,071  5,372 

Due in one to five years 24,205  27,871 

Due after five years 201,127  177,575 

 

 244,403  210,818 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9. FINANCING CONTRACTS (CONTINUED) 



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                42 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

9. FINANCING CONTRACTS (CONTINUED) 

9.3 The movement on impairment allowances is as follows: 
 

2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI* Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

 
 

    

At 1 January 2024 1,709 5,717 15,200 325 22,951 

 Net movement between stages 3,442 (4,224) 782 - - 

 Net charge (4,218) 2,871  2,652  127  1,432  

 Write-off - - (3,392) - (3,392) 

 Settlement - - - - - 

      

At 31 December 2024 933  4,364  15,242 452  20,991 

  

 

2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI* Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

      

At 1 January 2023 5,330 4,361 12,243 621 22,555 

 Net movement between stages (706) 222 484 - - 

 Net charge (2,915) 1,134 3,452 (296) 1,375 

 Write-off - - (90) - (90) 

 Settlement - - (889) - (889) 

           

At 31 December 2023 1,709 5,717 15,200 325 22,951 

 
* Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are initially recognised at their fair values 
and subsequently remeasured for any change in ECL or expected recoverable amounts. The POCI 
assets are currently carried at 24.17% (31 December 2023: 25%) compared to their original 
contractual outstanding amounts. On a cumulative basis, the impaired assets (Stage 3 and  POCI) 
are carried at 69.39% (31 December 2023: 64.42%) compared to their original contractual 
outstanding amounts. 

 
10. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

 

 31 December  

2024  

31 December 

2023 

 

BD ‘000  BD ‘000 

 

    

Equity type instruments:    

At fair value through income statement -  Structured notes     

At 1 January 14,796  14,900 

Accrued profit 371  516 

Redemption (15,118)  (621) 

Changes in fair value (49)  1 

 -  14,796 

    
At fair value through other comprehensive income - 
Unquoted equity securities* 20,895  23,774 

    

 20,895  38,570 
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* Includes Bank's share in equity type securities with carrying value of BD Nil (31 December 
2023:BD 5,844) for which the legal title are in the name of a third party held for beneficial interest 
of the Bank. 
 
 

11. INVESTMENT IN REAL ESTATE 

 

31 December 
2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 
2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Development property  7,774  68,643 

Investment property* 32,064  29,144 
    

         39,838 
 

97,787 

 
* Includes Bank's share in 3 plots of lands and a building with carrying value of BD 19,408 
(31 December 2023:BD 12,234) for which the title deeds are in the name of a third party held for 
beneficial interest of the Bank. 

 
(i) Development property 

Development property comprise mainly a property under construction in the Kingdom of 
Bahrain are residential units that were repossessed. 
 

(ii) Investment property 
Investment property comprise plots of land in the Kingdom of Bahrain, Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia and United Arab Emirates held for capital appreciation. 

 
The fair value of investment property as of 31 December 2024 was BD 34,530 thousand (31 
December 2023: BD 36,488 thousand), determined by an external independent real estate valuer 
based on sales comparison approach and accordingly has been categorised as level 2 in the fair 
value hierarchy. Based on management assessment, there are no indicators of impairment as of 
year-end; hence, no impairment provision have been considered. 

 

12. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 

 

31 December 
2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 
2023 

BD ‘000 

    

At 1 January 24,689  24,522 

Addition 3,128  - 

Sale (20,797)  (399) 

Recognition of associates upon deconsolidation of subsidiary -  1,491 

Share of loss for the year  (504)  (925) 
    

At 31 December  6,516 
 

24,689 
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Name Country of 
incorporation 

% holding Nature of business 

31 Dec 
2024 

31 Dec 
2023 

 

Capital Real Estate 
Projects Company 

Kingdom of Bahrain 30% 30% 
Real estate 
development 

Al Areen Hotels W.L.L.* Kingdom of Bahrain - 50% Hospitality business 

Amlak II Company 
Cayman 
Islands 37% 37% 

To hold real estate 
property. 

Seef Um Al Hassam 
Real Estate Co. 
W.L.L.** 

Kingdom of Bahrain 
31.28% - 

To hold real estate 
property. 

 
 

*During the year, the Group disposed of its share in Al Areen Hotels W.L.L. through a financing 
arrangement during the year. 
 
**During the year, the Group acquired shares in an associate as an in-kind settlement of a 
financing exposure. Currently the shares are held in the name of a third party for the beneficial 
interest of the Bank. 
 
Summarised financial information of associates that have been equity accounted for in these 
consolidated financial statements, not adjusted for percentage of ownership held by the Group: 
 

 
2024 

BD ‘000 
 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Total assets 26,665  79,623 

Total liabilities 418  23,816 

Total revenues 37  2,245 

Total net profit / (loss) 10  (1,592) 

 
13. OTHER ASSETS 
 

 

31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

  

31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

 

Repossessed assets 5,465  1,011 

Profit accrued on Sukuk 6,428  5,601 

Receivable from customers* 7,412  8,812 

Right-of-use asset 1,069  1,378 

Prepaid expenses 803  585 

Due from investments 454  345 

Other receivables 3,918  8,545 

 

         25,549  26,277 

 

 

**Pertains to receivables from customers upon the in-kind settlement of stage 3 financing 

exposures. The process of transfer of the collateral real estate was not completed as at the year 

end. However, beneficial interest has been transferred to the Bank. 

 

Below are further details related to the right-of-use asset: 
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2024 

BD ‘000 

  

2023 

BD ‘000 

 

Balance as at 1 January 1,378  499 
Additional right-of-use assets for the year, net 81  1,287 
Amortisation charge during the year (390)  (408) 

 

Balance as at 31 December  
1,069  1,378 

 
 

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 
Furniture 

and 
fixtures 

Computers 

Motor 
vehicle 

and other 
equipment 

Work-in-
progress 

2024 
Total 

2023 
Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Cost       

At 1 January  6,224  7,010  708  917  14,859  14,066 

Additions 9  479  1  501  990  796 
Disposals -  -  -  -  -    (3) 
Transfer 13  50  19  (82) -  - 

       
At 31 December 6,246  7,539  728  1,336  15,849  14,859 

 
Accumulated 
Depreciation       

At 1 January  4,696  6,092  582  -  11,370  10,635 
Charge for year 
(note 25) 363  521  33  -  917  735 

Disposals - - - - - - 

       
At 31 December 5,059  6,613  615  -    12,287  11,370 

  
Net book value 
At 31 December 2024 1,187  926  113  1,336  3,562   

At 31 December 2023 1,528 918 126 917  3,489 

 

15. PLACEMENTS FROM NON-FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INDIVIDUALS 

 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

 

 31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

 

Individuals 160,095  129,355 

Non-financial institutions 169,720  77,163 

    

 329,815  206,518 

These represent placements in the form of Murabaha contracts and are net of deferred profit of   

BD 6,150 thousand (31 December 2023: BD 6,647 thousand).  
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16. TERM FINANCING FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

 

Represents term Murabaha facilities of BD 245,526 thousand (31 December 2023: BD 264,362 

thousand) secured by pledge over sukuk with carrying value of BD 272,028 thousand 

(31 December 2023: BD 271,520 thousand) (refer note 8). The average rate of term financing is 

5.95% p.a. (2023: 6.11% p.a.) with an average maturity / repricing periods ranging up-to six 

months. 

 

17. OTHER LIABILITIES 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

 

 31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

 

Mudaraba profit accrual 5,706  8,601 

Payable to Investors* 5,738  5,760 

Net ijarah liabilities 1,042  1,345 

Advance received from customers 276  244 

Zakah and charity payable** 352  384 

Employee related accruals (note 17.1) 1,196  1,296 

Payable for Istisna’a contracts 27  27 

Other payables and accrued expenses** 6,265  5,172 

     

 20,602  22,829 

 
 

 * Relates to cash settlement with investors on account of restructuring (note 12). 
 

** Includes impairment allowance on commitments and financial guarantees of BD 75 thousand 
(31 December 2023: BD 61 thousand). During the year ended 31 December 2024, BD 779 
thousand (2023: BD 586 thousand) was transferred into the Zakah and charity fund and BD 811 
thousand (2023: BD 724 thousand) was utilised from the fund. (Refer note 33). 
 
The breakup of the Net Ijarah liabilities per maturity analysis is as follows: 
 
Net Ijarah Liabilities 
 

 31 December 2024 

Maturity analysis Gross Ijarah 
liabilities 
BD ‘000 

Deferred 
Ijarah 

BD ‘000 

Net Ijarah 
liabilities 
BD ‘000 

Less than one year 387 (5) 382 

One to five years 699 (39) 660 

Total  1,086 (44) 1,042 

 

 31 December 2023 

Maturity analysis Gross Ijarah 
liabilities 
BD ‘000 

Deferred 
Ijarah 

BD ‘000 

Net Ijarah 
liabilities 
BD ‘000 

Less than one year 407 (15) 392 

One to five years 1,024 (71) 953 

Total  1,431 (86) 1,345 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                47 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

 

17.1 EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS 

 
Employee related accruals include employee end of service benefits, movement of the balance is as 
follows: 
 

 31 December 

2024 
BD ‘000 

 31 December 

2023 
BD ‘000 

At beginning of the year 345  237 
Charge for the year 113  109 
Paid during the year  (86)  (1) 
Transferred to SIO during the year ** (13)  - 

At 31 December 359 
 

345 

 
**As per the changes in end-of-service benefits system for expatriate employees introduced by SIO 
effective from 1 March 2024, employers are required to pay the monthly end-of-service contributions 
electronically through the SIO portal in relation to the expatriate employees.  SIO would be responsible to 
settle leaving indemnities for expat employees at the time of end of service. Any indemnity liability prior to 
1 March 2024 and pending transfer to the SIO in subsequent periods remains the obligation of the 
Company. 
 
Total number of employees at 31 December: 

 31 December 

2024 

 31 December 

2023 

Bahrainis 174  163 
Expatriates  11  7 

 

185 

 

170 

 

18. QUASI-EQUITY 

 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

Participatory-based    

Mudaraba 519,936  535,662 

Fair value reserve attributable to Quasi-equity (740)  - 

    

 519,196  535,662 

 
During the year, as a result of the adoption of FAS 1, the Group started allocating expected credit 
losses on stage 1 and 2 accounts to Quasi-equity. 
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18.       QUASI-EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

The funds received from investment accountholders have been commingled and jointly invested 

with the Group in the following asset classes: 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

    

CBB reserve account 31,958  28,392 

Debt type instruments – sukuk 67,438  83,863 

Financing contracts 391,712  378,813 

Investment securities 11,630  26,893 

Investment in real estate 16,458  17,198 

Other assets -  503 

    

 519,196  535,662 

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of profit equalisation reserve and investment risk reserve 

was Nil (31 December 2023: Nil).  

 

The Group does not allocate non-performing assets to quasi equity pool. All the impairment 

allowances are allocated to the owners’ equity. Recoveries from non-performing financial assets 

are also not allocated to quasi equity holders. 

 

Only profits earned on pool of assets funded from quasi equity are allocated between the owners’ 

equity and quasi equity. The Group did not charge any administration expenses to quasi equity.  

 

During the year, the assets allocated to Quasi equity accounts earned a return of 4.96% of which 

4.04% was distributed to the IAH and balance was retained as mudarib fees.  

 

During the year, average mudarib share as a percentage of total income allocated to quasi equity 

was 24.00% (2023: 28.13%) as against the average mudarib share contractually agreed with quasi 

equity. Hence the Group sacrificed average mudarib fees of 40.44% (2023: 38.44%) in the form of 

hiba or reduction of mudarib share. 

 

The Group does not share profits resulting from the assets funded through current accounts and 

other funds received on the basis other than mudaraba contract. 

 

The funds raised from quasi equity are deployed in the assets on a priority basis after setting aside 

certain amount in cash and placement with Banks for liquidity management purposes. 
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18.       QUASI-EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

 

The distribution of asset by ownership is as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

 Self 

 

Quasi equity 

(jointly 

financed) 

 Self 

 

Quasi equity 

(jointly 

financed) 

Balances with banks 73,488 -  87,991 - 

CBB reserve account - 31,958  - 28,392 

Placements with financial 

institutions 71,017 - 

 

124,190 - 

Investment in sukuk 434,701 67,438  438,883 83,863 

Financing contracts 329,455 391,712  169,474 378,813 

Investment securities 9,265 11,630  11,677 26,893 

Investment in real estate 23,380 16,458  80,589 17,198 

Equity accounted investees 6,516 -  24,689 - 

Other assets 25,549 -  25,774 503 

Property and equipment 3,562 -  3,489 - 

 

Total 976,933 519,196  966,756 535,662 
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18.       QUASI-EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

 

The distribution of income by ownership is as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

 Self 

 

Quasi equity 

(jointly 

financed) 

 Self 

 

Quasi equity 

(jointly 

financed) 

Income      

Income from financing contracts 29,031 18,803  16,764 23,458 

Income from placements with 

financial institutions 7,733 -  4,819 - 

Income from sukuk 21,203 3,790  25,580 4,019 

Finance expense on placements 

from financial institutions, non-

financial institutions and individuals (29,904) -  (30,493) - 

Finance expense on term financing 

from financial institutions  (15,448) -  (10,662) - 

      

Net finance income 12,615 22,593  6,008 27,477 

      

Income from investment securities   5,806 352  2,695 677 

Income from investment in real 

estate, net 1,070 738  4,165 210 

Share of loss from equity 

accounted investees (504) -  (925) - 

Fees and other income, net 7,290 -  6,809 - 

TOTAL INCOME 26,277 23,683  18,752 28,364 

      

      

Staff cost 7,127 -  6,618 - 

Other operating expenses 9,387 -  8,424 - 

      

TOTAL EXPENSES 16,514 -  15,042 - 

      
 

Profit before impairment 

allowances and attribution to 

quasi-equity 9,763 23,683  3,710 28,364 

      

Allowances for impairment and 

expected credit losses, net (2,656) 732  (1,469) - 

      

Profit before attribution to quasi-

equity 7,107 24,415  2,241 28,364 

Group's share as a mudarib and 

wakil 3,396 (3,396)  6,806 (6,806) 

      

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10,503 21,019  9,047 21,558 
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18.       QUASI-EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

 

The below is the break up of quasi equity per original contractual maturity: 

 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

    
    

Savings accounts 187,294  239,059 

One to six months investment accounts 210,629  195,482 

Six to twelve months investment accounts 106,176  64,546 

One to two years investment accounts 15,140  36,504 

Two to three years investment accounts 697  71 

Total 519,936 
 

535,662 

  

19. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The shareholders, in their Extraordinary General Assembly meeting on 4 March 2024 resolved to 

convert 47% of the AT1 Sukuk with a par value of BD 28,261 thousand into 282,610 thousand 

ordinary shares of BD 0.100 each representing 25% of the Bank’s issued and paid-up capital. As 

a result, the issued and paid-up capital increased to 1,130,441 thousand shares of BD 0.100 each 

(excluding 47,588 thousand treasury shares).   

 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

    
Authorised:    

3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of BD 0.100 each  300,000  300,000 

    

Issued and fully paid up:    
1,130,440,712 ordinary shares (2023: 847,830,534 shares) 
of BD 0.100 each  113,044 

 
84,783 

 

Distribution schedule of equity shares, setting out the number of holders and percentage in the 

following categories: 

 

31 December 2024 

Categories* 

Number of 

Shares 

Number of 

Shareholders 

% of total 

outstanding 

shares 

    

Less than 1% 76,139,052 322 6.73% 

1% up to less than 5%  47,588,090 1 4.21% 

5% up to less than 10% ** 69,057,399 1 6.11% 

50% and above 937,656,171 1 82.95% 

    

 1,130,440,712 325 100% 

 

* Expressed as a percentage of total outstanding shares of the Bank. 

** Includes treasury shares. 
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19.        SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

31 December 2023 

Categories* 

Number of 

Shares 

Number of 

Shareholders 

% of total 

outstanding 

shares 

    

Less than 1% 53,735,841 331 6.34% 

1% up to less than 5%  22,403,211 2 2.64% 

5% up to less than 10% ** 47,588,090 1 5.61% 

50% and above 724,103,392 1 85.41% 

    

 847,830,534 335 100% 

 

* Expressed as a percentage of total outstanding shares of the Bank. 

** Includes treasury shares. 

 

Names and nationalities of the major shareholders and the number of equity shares held in which 

they have an interest of 5% or more of outstanding shares: 

 

31 December 2024 

 

Nationality 

Number of 

shares 

% of total 

outstanding 

shares 

    

GFH Financial Group* Bahrain 937,656,171 82.95% 

Royal Humanitarian Foundation Bahrain 69,057,399 6.11% 

 

* These shares are held by KHCB Asset Company & SICO B.S.C on behalf of GFH Financial 

Group, the Parent.  

 

31 December 2023 

 

Nationality 

Number of 

shares 

% of total 

outstanding 

shares 

    

GFH Financial Group* Bahrain 724,103,392 85.41% 

Khaleeji Bank B.S.C Bahrain 47,588,090 5.61% 

 

* These shares are held by KHCB Asset Company on behalf of GFH Financial Group, the Parent. 

 

19.1      APPROPRIATIONS 

All appropriations shall be subject to approval of the regulator and shareholders of the Bank. On 

the date of approval of these financial statements, no proposals on appropriation or distribution of 

profits have been finalised. The Board of Directors may assess distributions, if any, in another 

meeting prior to the annual general meeting for the year.   
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20. PERPETUAL MUDHARABA (AT1) 

 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000  

31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Perpetual Mudharaba (AT1) -  47,222 

    

 -  47,222 

 

In 2020, the Bank issued a Perpetual Mudharaba (Basel III compliant Additional Tier 1 capital 

securities) of face value of US$ 159 million (BD 60 million). 

 

During the year, the Group redeemed and converted the AT1 security (refer to note 19) after 

obtaining required regulatory, shareholder and investor approval.  

 

During the year, profit distribution on AT1 to its holders amounted to BD Nil (2023: BD 6,000 

thousand). 

 

21. INCOME FROM INVESTMENT SECURITIES  

  

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Gain on disposal of equity accounted investees 5,792  - 

Income from investment securities 371  2,145 

Fair value gains -  1 

(Loss) / Gain on disposal of investment securities (49)  1,173 

Dividend income 44  53 

    

 6,158  3,372 

 

22. INCOME FROM INVESTMENT IN REAL ESTATE, NET 

  

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Gain on disposal of investment in real estate 1,820  4,924 

Rental income, net  (12)  (549) 

    

 1,808  4,375 

  

During the year, the Group has sold shares in a subsidiary for a gain of BD 1.7 million. As a result 

of the sale, NCI on the subsidiary of BD 8 million was derecognized. 
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23. FEES AND OTHER INCOME, NET 
 

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Fee income 1,563  848 

Foreign exchange gain 1,462  1,314 

Recoveries 4,147  3,199 

Others 118  1,448 

    

 7,290  6,809 

 

24. STAFF COST 

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Salaries and short-term benefits 5,914  5,537 

Social insurance  1,045  913 

Indemnity expenses 113  109 

Other staff expenses 55  59 

    

 7,127  6,618 

 

25. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Professional fees 1,408  1,067 

Distribution channel expenses 2,223  1,117 

Information technology expenses 1,131  1,082 

Net ijarah cost  741  446 

Board expenses 397  582 

Depreciation expense (note 14) 917  735 

Advertisement and marketing expenses 657  1,074 

Premises cost 17  362 

Communication expenses 247  194 

Other operating expenses 1,649  1,765 

    

 9,387  8,424 
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26. ALLOWANCES FOR IMPAIRMENT AND EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES, NET 

 

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Financing contracts (note 9) 1,432  1,375 

Investments in sukuk held at amortised cost (note 8) 486  98 

Investments in sukuk held at FVTOCI (note 8) (4)  (5) 

Balances and placements with banks and  

financial institutions (note 6 & 7) (4) 

 

3 

Commitments and financial guarantees (note 39) 14  (2) 

    

 1,924  1,469 

 

27. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME 

 

In 2024, the group has incorporated a trust, Khaleeji Commercial Bank Employee Benefit Trust 

(‘’Trust’), to hold the beneficial interest of the shares under the scheme. 

 

The shareholders, in their annual general meeting held on 25 March 2024, approved the employee 

share based incentive scheme (the “scheme”) which is in line with the CBB’s Sound Remuneration 

Practices. Under the share incentive scheme, certain covered employees are granted the Bank’s 

shares as compensation of their performance. 

 

As per the scheme, the share awards from each performance year will vest immediately but will be 

released over three years period from the date of grant. The share awards are subject to an 

additional retention period of six months from the date of completion of deferred period, after which 

the employee is unconditionally allowed to sell the shares in the market. The scheme allows the 

Bank’s Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee (“BNRGC”) to determine that, if 

appropriate, un-awarded shares can be forfeited or clawed back in certain situations. Share awards 

to employees under the terms of the scheme shall commence from 2025. 
 

28. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING 

POLICIES 

 

The Group makes judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually 

evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectation of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, the process of 

making the required estimates and assumptions involved further challenges due to the prevailing 

uncertainties. 

 

I. Judgements 

Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on an exposure subject to credit risk 

has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for incorporating 

forward looking information into measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models used 

to measure ECL is set out in Note 5 (i) and Note 38.  

 

Impairment allowance on financing portfolio at amortised cost 

In determining the appropriate level of expected credit losses (ECLs) the Group considered the 

macro-economic outlook, customer credit quality, the type of collateral held, exposure at default, 

and the effect of payment deferral options as at the reporting date. 
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28.       CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING 

POLICIES (continued) 

 

The ECL methodology, significant increase in credit risk (SICR) thresholds, and definition of default 

remain consistent with those used as at 31 December 2023. 

 

The re-assessed model inputs, including forward-looking information, scenarios and associated 

weightings, were revised to reflect the current outlook.  Noting the wide range of possible scenarios 

and macroeconomic outcomes, and the relative uncertainty of how the social and economic factors 

will materialize, these scenarios represent reasonable and supportable forward-looking views as 

at the reporting date. The Group’s models are calibrated periodically to consider past performance 

and macrocosmic forward-looking variables as inputs.  

 

The Group considers both qualitative and quantitative information in the assessment of significant 

increase in credit risk. The Group continues to assess borrowers for other indicators of unlikeliness 

to pay, taking into consideration the underlying cause of any financial difficulty and whether it is 

likely to be temporary or longer term. 

 

a. Classification of investments 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management decides on acquisition of 

an investment whether it should be classified as 1) monetary or non-monetary debt-type 

instruments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income or at amortised cost, or 2) 

equity-type instruments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income or at fair value 

through income statement. The classification of each investment is based on business model 

assessment by management and is subject to different accounting treatments based on such 

classification (refer note 5 (c) (i)). 

 

b. Impairment of equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income – (refer to 

Note 5 (i) (ii)) 

 

II. Estimations 

a) Impairment of financing contracts at amortised cost 

➢ Determining inputs into ECL measurement model including incorporation of forward-

looking information is set out in Note 5 (i) and Note 38; and  

➢ Key assumptions used in estimating recoverable cash flows 

 

b) Measurement of fair value of unquoted equity investments (level 3) -refer to Note 5 (c) (iii) and 

Note 37  

 

c)   Assessment of impairment of investment in real estate (Note 5(g),5(j)) and Note 11) 

 

29. FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT 

 

The Group provides corporate administration, investment management and advisory services to 

its investment entities, which involves making decisions on behalf of such entities. Assets that are 

held in such capacity are not included in these consolidated financial statements. No income or 

expenses has been recognized from the funds under management during the year. At the reporting 

date, the Group had Funds under management of having net asset value of BD 158,930 thousand 

(2023: BD 159,110 thousand) 
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 

significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related 

parties include the parent company, other significant shareholders and entities over which the 

Group and the shareholders exercises significant influence, directors, sharia board members and 

executive management of the Group. The transactions with these parties were made on agreed 

commercial terms. 

 

Details of Directors’ interests in the Bank’s ordinary shares as at the end of the year were nil 

(2023: Nil). 

 

Compensation of key management personnel 

Key management personnel of the Group comprise the Board of Directors and key members of 

management having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 

of the Group. 

 

The key management personnel compensation during the year is as follows: 

 

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Board member fees and allowances 353  341 

Salaries and other short-term benefits 1,867  1,555 

Post employment benefits 88  93 

    

 

The key management personnel balances as of the end the year is as follows: 

 

 31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000 

 31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Balances due to key management as compensation 560  480 
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30.    RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

 The related party balances and transactions included in these consolidated financial statements are 
as follows: 

 

31 December 2024 Associates Directors / Key 
management 

personnel and 
shari’a board 

members 

Parent company 
/ other 

significant 
shareholders / 

entities in which 
directors are 

interested 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Assets     

Financing contracts - 3,995 23,091 27,086 

Investment securities - - 2,284 2,284 

Equity accounted investees 6,516 - - 6,516 

Investment in sukuk - - 58,297 58,297 

Other assets - - 66 66 

 
Liabilities and Quasi-equity     

Placement from financial 
institutions, Non-FIs and 
individuals - 2,439 61,908 64,347 

Customers’ current accounts 699 350 13,687 14,736 

Other liabilities - 560 - 560 

Quasi-equity  318 2,147 29,855 32,320 

 

31 December 2023 Associates Directors / Key 
management 
personnel and 
shari’a board 

members 

Parent company / 
other significant 
shareholders / 

entities in which 
directors are 

interested 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Assets     

Financing contracts - 4,245 23,206 27,451 

Investment securities - - 2,284 2,284 

Equity accounted investees 24,689 - - 24,689 

Investment in sukuk - - 58,297 58,297 

Other assets - - 568 568 

 
Liabilities and Quasi-equity      
Placement from financial 
institutions, Non-FIs and 
individuals 

 

- 

 

2,112 

 

43,541 

 

45,653 

Customers’ current accounts 

 

1,120 

 

6 

 

11,021 

 

12,147 

Other liabilities - 480 - 480 

Quasi equity 335 1,895 126,520 128,750 
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30.      RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
2024 
 

Associates Directors / Key 
management 

personnel and 
shari’a board 

members 

Parent company 
/ other 

significant 
shareholders / 

entities in which 
directors are 

interested 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Income     

Income from financing 
contracts - 224 2,044 2,268 
Income from investment 
securities 5,792 - - 5,792 

Share of loss from equity 
accounted investees (504) - - (504) 

Income from sukuk - - 2,394 2,394 

Fees and other income, net  - 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 

     

Expenses     

Finance expense on 
placements from financial 
institutions, non-financial 
institutions and individuals - 105 5,837 5,942 

Net income attributable to 
quasi-equity  18 84 3,952 4,054 

Staff cost - 1,956 - 1,956 
Other expenses - 405 - 405 

 

During the year, 47% of the AT1 Sukuk with a par value of BD 28,261 thousand were converted into 

282,610 thousand ordinary shares of BD 0.100 each representing 25% of the Bank’s issued and paid-

up capital. Furthermore, the Shareholders resolved to approve the redemption of the remaining 53% 

of the AT1 Sukuk of BD 31,739 thousand in cash.   

 

The Group disposed of its share in HH Hotel Properties W.L.L. & Al Areen Hotels W.L.L. through a 

financing arrangement during the year. 

 

Additionally, during the year, BD 438 thousand paid to related parties relating to donations. 
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30.     RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
2023 
 

Associates Directors / Key 
management 
personnel and 
shari’a board 

members 

Parent company / 
other significant 
shareholders / 

entities in which 
directors are 

interested 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Income     

Income from financing 
contracts - 298 3,218 3,516 
Income from investment 
securities - - - - 

Share of loss from equity 
accounted investees (925) - - (925) 
Income from sukuk - - 2,194 2,194 

Fees and other income, net  - - 3,523 3,523 
     

Expenses     

Finance expense on 
placements from financial 
institutions, non-financial 
institutions and individuals - 102 4,394 4,496 
Net income attributable to 
quasi-equity  14 94 5,375 5,483 
Staff cost - 1,648 - 1,648 

Other expenses - 445 - 445 

 

31. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average 

number of equity shares outstanding during the year adjusted for impact arising from shares issued 

under the employee share incentive scheme. 

 

Basic EPS 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Profit attributable to shareholders of parent for the year 10,503  9,003 

Less: Profit distribution on AT1 Capital -  (6,000) 

 

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent for 

basic and diluted earnings per share computation for the 

year 10,503  3,003 

    

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 

year, net of treasury shares (thousand) 1,016,447  800,242 

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in fils) 10.33  3.75 

    

 

The Group did not have any dilutive instruments as of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. 
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32. SHARI’A SUPERVISORY BOARD 

 

The Group’s Shari’a Supervisory Board consists of four Islamic scholars who review the Group’s 

compliance with general Shari’a principles and specific fatwas, rulings and guidelines issued. Their 

review includes examination of evidence relating to the documentation and procedures adopted by 

the Group to ensure that its activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Shari’a principles. 

 

33. ZAKAH 

 

Zakah is directly borne by the shareholders on distributed profits and investment accountholders. 

The Group currently does not collect or pay Zakah on behalf of its shareholders and investors in 

restricted investment accounts. Zakah payable by the shareholders is computed by the Group on 

the basis of the method prescribed by the Group’s Shari’a Supervisory Board and notified to 

shareholders annually. During the year, the Shari’a Supervisory Board has computed Zakah 

payable of BD 1,039 thousand (2023: BD 940 thousand) of which BD 828 thousand (2023: 769 

thousand) represents the Zakah computed on the statutory reserve and cumulative retained 

earnings as at 31 December 2024, payable by the Group. The remaining Zakah balance amounting 

to BD 211 thousand or 0.186 fils per share (2023: BD 171 thousand or 0.202 fils per share) is due 

and payable by the shareholders. The Group will pay Zakah of BD 9 thousand                                 

(2023: BD 11 thousand) on the treasury shares held as of 31 December 2024 based on 0.186 fils 

per share (2023: 0.202 fils per share). 

 

The movement in the zakah and charity fund is as follows: 

  2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

     

Sources of zakah and charity fund     

At 1 January   384  522 

Contributions by the Bank  768  555 

Non-shari’a compliant income  11  31 

     

Total sources  1,163  1,108 

     

Uses of zakah and charity fund      

Contributions to charitable organisations  (811)  (724) 

     

Total uses  (811)  (724) 

     

Undistributed zakah and charity fund at 31 

December 

 

352  384  

 

34. SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 

it may earn revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the 

Group’s chief operating decision maker (Board of Directors) to make decisions about resource 

allocation to each segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information 

is available. An operating segment is divided into business segment and geographic segments. 

For management purposes, the Group is organised into two major business segments: 
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34.       SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 

 

Banking 

This mainly covers licensed activities of providing customer services such as accepting Mudharaba 

deposits, savings account and current account facilities, fund transfer facilities, bill payment 

facilities. This business deploys the funding to provide financing facilities (in the form of Commodity 

Murabaha, Mudharaba, Musharaka, Istisna’a and for Ijarah facilities) to corporate clients and High-

Networth-Individuals and consumer finance products. This segment also includes liquidity 

management through money market and treasury services in the form of short term Commodity 

Murabaha and Wakala to banks, financial institutions and investments in sukuk to manage funding 

profile of the Group’s banking business. 

 

Investments 

Primarily relates to conceptualising of investment deals and performing roles of an arranger, lead 

manager, and administrator of the funds (involves structuring of deals, raising of funds through 

private placement and fund administration). Also involves carrying out strategic investments in the 

form of equity contribution (either in the funds created and managed by the Group or other 

institutions). 

 

Segment performance is measured based on results for each department as mentioned in the 

internal management reports that are reviewed by the Board of directors on a quarterly basis. 

Segment results is used to measure performance as management believes that such information 

is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that 

operate in these industries. 

 

The Group reports directly attributable revenue and cost relating to transactions originating from 

respective segments as segment revenue and segment cost respectively. Indirect costs and 

corporate overheads are treated as unallocated. The group does not use a transfer pricing 

mechanism between its segments. The internal management reports are designed to reflect 

revenue and cost for respective segments which are measured against the budgeted figures. 

 

The Group primarily operates from Bahrain and does not have any overseas branches/divisions. 

The geographic concentration of assets and liabilities is disclosed in note 36 (b) to the consolidated 

financial statements. 
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34.       SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 

 

These segments are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. 

Transactions between segments (if any) are conducted on agreed terms. 
  

31 December 2024 Investments Banking Unallocated Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Cash and bank balances -     105,446  -     105,446  

Placements with financial 

institutions (43) 71,060  -     71,017  

Investment in sukuk -     502,139  -     502,139  

Financing contracts -     721,167  -     721,167  

Investment securities 20,895  -     -     20,895  

Investment in real estate 39,838  -     -     39,838  

Equity accounted investees  6,516  -     -     6,516  

Other assets 5,953  6,933  12,663  25,549  

Property and equipment -     -     3,562  3,562  

Total segment assets 73,159 1,406,745 16,225 1,496,129 

     

Placements from financial 

institutions  -   134,971  -   134,971  

Placements from non- 

financial institutions and 

individuals -   329,815  -   329,815  

Term financing from financial 

institutions -   245,526  -   245,526  

Customers’ current accounts  (43) 117,415  -   117,372  

Other liabilities 5,831  7,537  7,234  20,602  

Total segment liabilities  5,788  835,264  7,234  848,286  

     

Quasi equity - 519,196 - 519,196 

     

Assets under management 1,533 - - 1,533 
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34.       SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 

 

2024 Investments Banking Unallocated Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Income from financing 

contracts -     47,834  -     47,834  

Income from placements with 

financial institutions -     7,733  -     7,733  

Income from sukuk -     24,993  -     24,993  

Income from investment 

securities 6,278  -     -     6,278  

Share of loss from equity 

accounted investees (504) -     -     (504) 

Fees and other income, net (12) 8,990  -     8,978  

Less: Finance expense on 

placements from financial 

institutions, non-financial 

institutions and individuals -     (29,904) -     (29,904) 

Finance expense on term 

financing from financial 

institutions -     (15,448) -     (15,448) 

Total segment income 5,762  44,198  -    49,960  

     

Staff cost 713  2,851  3,563  7,127  

Other expenses 114  2,905  6,368  9,387  

Total segment expenses 827  5,756  9,931  16,514  

     

Segment results before 

impairment allowances 4,935  38,442  (9,931) 33,446  

     

Impairment allowance, net (482) (1,442) -     (1,924) 

Less: Net income attributable 

to quasi-equity  -     (21,019) -     (21,019) 

 

Segment results 4,453  15,981  (9,931) 10,503  
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34.       SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 

 

These segments are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. 

Transactions between segments (if any) are conducted on agreed terms. 
  

31 December 2023 Investments Banking Unallocated Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Cash and bank balances 1 116,382 - 116,383 

Placements with financial 

institutions (9) 124,199 - 124,190 

Investment in sukuk - 522,746 - 522,746 

Financing contracts - 548,287 - 548,287 

Investment securities 38,570 - - 38,570 

Investment in real estate 97,787 - - 97,787 

Equity accounted investees  24,689 - - 24,689 

Other assets 4,134 6,106 16,037 26,277 

Property and equipment - - 3,489 3,489 

Total segment assets 165,172 1,317,720 19,526 1,502,418 

     

Placements from financial 

institutions  - 237,773 - 237,773 

Placements from non- 

financial institutions and 

individuals - 206,518 - 206,518 

Term financing from financial 

institutions - 264,362 - 264,362 

Customers’ current accounts  (9) 77,889 - 77,880 

Other liabilities 6,285 9,780 6,764 22,829 

Total segment liabilities  6,276 796,322 6,764 809,362 

     

Quasi equity - 535,662 - 535,662 

     

Assets under management 1,533 - - 1,533 
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34.       SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 

 

2023 Investments Banking Unallocated Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Income from financing 

contracts - 40,222 - 40,222 

Income from placements with 

financial institutions - 4,819 - 4,819 

Income from sukuk - 29,599 - 29,599 

Income from investment 

securities 3,372 - - 3,372 

Share of loss from equity 

accounted investees (925) - - (925) 

Fees and other income, net 4,062 7,122 - 11,184 

Less:  

Finance expense on 

placements from financial 

institutions, non-financial 

institutions and individuals - (30,493) - (30,493) 

Finance expense on term 

financing from financial 

institutions - (10,662) - (10,662) 

Total segment income 6,509 40,607 - 47,116 

     

Staff cost 662 2,647 3,309 6,618 

Other expenses 258 2,200 5,966 8,424 

Total segment expenses 920 4,847 9,275 15,042 

     

Segment results before 

impairment allowances 5,589 35,760 (9,275) 32,074 

     

Impairment allowance, net (93) (1,376) - (1,469) 

Less: Net income attributable 

to quasi-equity  - (21,558) - (21,558) 

 

Segment results 5,496 12,826 (9,275) 9,047 
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35. MATURITY PROFILE 

 

The maturity profile of placements with and from financial institutions, financing contracts, term 

financing and term quasi equity has been presented using their contractual maturity period. For 

other balances, maturity profile is based on expected cash flows/ settlement profile of the 

respective assets and liabilities. 

 

31 December 2024 Up to 3 

months 

3 to 6 

months 

6 months 

- 1 year 

1 to 3 

years 

Over 3 

years 
Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

       

Assets       

Cash and bank balances 90,310 6,352 8,402 382 - 105,446 

Placements with financial 

institutions 71,017 - - - - 71,017 

Investment in sukuk 27,124 314,178 32,877 86,440 41,520 502,139 

Financing contracts 65,387 76,255 38,966 132,924 407,635 721,167 

Investment securities - - - - 20,895 20,895 

Investment in real estate - - - - 39,838 39,838 

Equity accounted 

investees - - - - 6,516 6,516 

Other assets 5,112 2,342 295 12,134 5,666 25,549 

Property and equipment - - - - 3,562 3,562 

       

Total assets 258,950 399,127 80,540 231,880 525,632 1,496,129 

 

Liabilities       

Placements from 

financial institutions  95,095 38,191 1,685 - - 134,971 

Placements from non-

financial institutions and 

individuals 101,736 40,196 15,985 150 171,748 329,815 

Term financing from 

financial institutions - - - 245,526  - 245,526 

Customers’ current 

account 56,033 974 1,831 3,663 54,871 117,372 

Other liabilities 13,327 2,008 1,145 1,766 2,356 20,602 

       

Total liabilities 266,191 81,369 20,646 251,105 228,975 848,286 

Quasi equity 199,829 30,643 28,064 46,287 214,373 519,196 

       

       

Assets under 

management - - - 1,533 - 1,533 

 
  



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                68 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

35.     MATURITY PROFILE (CONTINUED) 

 

31 December 2023 Up to 3 

months 

3 to 6 

months 

6 months 

- 1 year 

1 to 3 

years 

Over 3 

years 
Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

       

Assets       

Cash and bank balances 103,727 3,265 8,662 729 - 116,383 

Placements with financial 

institutions 
124,190 - - - - 124,190 

Investment in sukuk 331,553 - - 94,638 96,555 522,746 

Financing contracts 57,309 11,786 69,201 118,785 291,206 548,287 

Investment securities - - - 14,796 23,774 38,570 

Investment in real estate - - - - 97,787 97,787 

Equity accounted 

investees 
- - - - 24,689 24,689 

Other assets 4,165 - - 21,103 1,009 26,277 

Property and equipment - - - - 3,489 3,489 

             

Total assets 620,944 15,051 77,863 250,051 538,509 1,502,418 

 

Liabilities       

Placements from 

financial institutions  178,655 40,214 12,697 6,207 - 237,773 

Placements from non-

financial institutions and 

individuals 24,605 15,418 53,513 222 112,760 206,518 

Term financing from 

financial institutions - - - 264,362 - 264,362 

Customers’ current 

account 5,428 9,579 - 5,241 57,632 77,880 

Other liabilities 14,015 3,511 3,179 2,124 - 22,829 

       

Total liabilities 222,703 68,722 69,389 278,156 170,392 809,362 

Quasi equity 36,766 14,616 27,298 10,025 446,957 535,662 

       

       

Assets under 

management - - - 1,533 - 1,533 
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36. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, QUASI EQUITY AND ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT 

(a) Industry sector 

 

31 December 2024 Banks and 

financial 

institutions 

Real 

estate 

Government 

/ Sovereign Others Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Assets      

Cash and bank balances 105,446 - - - 105,446 

Placements with financial institutions 71,017 - - - 71,017 

Investment in sukuk 53,725 78,649 349,588 20,177 502,139 

Financing contracts 49,677 271,299 113,159 287,032 721,167 

Investment securities - 15,463 - 5,432 20,895 

Investment in real estate  - 39,838 - - 39,838 

Equity accounted investees - 6,516 - - 6,516 

Other assets 3,338 4,929 17 17,265 25,549 

Property and equipment - - - 3,562 3,562 

      

Total assets 283,203 416,694 462,764 333,468 1,496,129 

      

Liabilities      

Placements from financial institutions 134,971 - - - 134,971 

Placements from non-financial institutions 

and individuals 
1,516 60,282 67,928 200,089 329,815 

Term financing from financial institutions 196,569 - 48,957 - 245,526 

Customers’ current accounts  130 4,017 2,100 111,125 117,372 

Other liabilities - - - 20,602 20,602 

      

Total liabilities 333,186 64,299 118,985 331,816 848,286 

      

Quasi equity 6,284 41,931 43,001 427,980 519,196 

      

Assets under management - 1,533 - - 1,533 

      

Commitments and financial 

guarantees - 12,852 - 61,098 73,950 
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36.   CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, QUASI EQUITY AND ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

(a) Industry sector (continued) 

 

31 December 2023 Banks and 

financial 

institutions 

Real 

estate 

Government 

/ Sovereign Others Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Assets      

Cash and bank balances 116,383 - - - 116,383 

Placements with financial institutions 124,190 - - - 124,190 

Investment in sukuk 64,546 77,125    357,234 23,841 522,746 

Financing contracts 2,853 277,139 40,406 227,889 548,287 

Investment securities 14,796 17,858 - 5,916 38,570 

Investment in real estate  - 97,787 - - 97,787 

Equity accounted investees - 24,689 - - 24,689 

Other assets 698 5,330 - 20,249 26,277 

Property and equipment - - - 3,489 3,489 

      

Total assets 323,466 499,928 397,640 281,384 1,502,418 

      

Liabilities      

Placements from financial institutions 237,773 - - - 237,773 

Placements from non-financial institutions 

and individuals 

 

1,518 - 

 

2,786 202,214 

 

206,518 

Term financing from financial institutions 216,362 - 48,000 - 264,362 

Customers’ current accounts  352 3,732 1,674 72,122 77,880 

Other liabilities - 396 - 22,433 22,829 

      

Total liabilities 456,005 4,128 52,460 296,769 809,362 

      

Quasi equity 66,148 62,643 65,344 341,527 535,662 

      

Funds under management - 1,533 - - 1,533 

      

Commitments and financial guarantees 245 11,052 - 46,968 58,265 
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36.   CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, QUASI EQUITY AND ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 (b) Geographic sector 

 

31 December 2024 GCC 
countries 

Europe America Asia Australia Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Assets       

Cash and bank balances 101,781 3,623 -    42 -    105,446 

Placements with financial 

institutions 43,005 28,012 - - - 71,017 

Investment in sukuk 447,637 54,502 - - - 502,139 

Financing contracts 715,106 6,061 - - - 721,167 

Investment securities 17,744 - - - 3,151 20,895 

Investment in real estate  39,838 - - - - 39,838 

Equity accounted 

investees 6,516 - - - - 6,516 
Other assets 25,304 59 30 155 1 25,549 

Property and equipment 3,562 - - - - 3,562 

       

Total assets 1,400,493 92,257 30 197 3,152 1,496,129 

       

Liabilities       

Placements from 

financial institutions 134,971 - - - - 134,971 

Placements from non-

financial institutions and 

individuals 326,788 3,027 - - - 329,815 

Term financing from 

financial institutions 211,107 34,419 - - - 245,526 

Customers’ current 

accounts  98,001 19,307 - 64 - 117,372 

Other liabilities 20,602 - - - - 20,602 

       

Total liabilities 791,469  56,753  -    64  -    848,286  

       

Quasi equity 465,654 52,006 - 1,528 8 519,196 

       

Funds under 

management 
 

1,533 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 1,533 

       

Commitments and 

financial guarantee 
 

74,544 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 74,544 

 

Concentration by location for financing contracts is measured based on the location of the 

counterparty, which has a high correlation with the location of the collateral for the exposure. 
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36.   CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, QUASI EQUITY AND ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

(b) Geographic sector (continued) 

 

31 December 2023 GCC 
countries 

Europe America Asia Australia Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Assets       

Cash and bank balances 108,026 863 7,463 31 - 116,383 

Placements with financial 

institutions 104,074 20,116 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 

 

124,190 

Investment in sukuk 441,238 81,508 - - - 522,746 

Financing contracts 542,246 6,041 - - - 548,287 

Investment securities 19,534 14,796 - - 4,240 38,570 

Investment in real estate  97,787 - - - - 97,787 

Equity accounted 

investees 24,689 - - - - 24,689 
Other assets 26,232 15 - 29 1 26,277 

Property and equipment 3,489 - - - - 3,489 

       

Total assets 1,367,315 123,339 7,463 60 4,241 1,502,418 

       

Liabilities       

Placements from 

financial institutions 237,773 - - - - 237,773 

Placements from non-

financial institutions and 

individuals 201,630 4,888 - - - 206,518 

Term financing from 

financial institutions 214,805 49,557 - - - 264,362 

Customers’ current 

accounts  56,537 10,816 - 10,527 - 77,880 

Other liabilities 22,829 - - - - 22,829 

       

Total liabilities 733,574 65,261 - 10,527 - 809,362 

       

Quasi equity 505,196 28,876 - 1,590 - 535,662 

       

Funds under 

management 
 

1,533 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 1,533 

       

Commitments and 

financial guarantee 
 

58,265 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 58,265 
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37. FAIR VALUE 

 

a)       Fair value  

Fair value is an amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

 

The fair value of quoted Sukuk carried at amortised cost of BD 419,266 thousand                                              

(31 December 2023: BD 400,012 thousand) is BD 411,228 thousand as at 31 December 2024 (31 

December 2023: BD 386,760 thousand). 

 

The estimated fair values of the Group’s other tradable financial instruments other than receivables 

are not significantly different from their carrying values due to their short-term nature. 

 

b)       Fair value hierarchy 

The table below analyses the financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The 

different levels have been defined as follows: 

 

▪ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

▪ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e.as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

▪ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 

 

31 December 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

- Structured notes at fair value 
through income statement - - - - 

- Debt-type sukuk at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income - 54,502 - 54,502 

- Equity-type sukuk at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income - 29,149 - 29,149 

- Equity-type securities carried at fair 
value through other comprehensive 
income - - 

        
20,895         20,895 

 

- 83,651  
        

20,895   104,546 
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37.      FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 

 

b)   Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 

31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

- Structured notes at fair value 
through income statement - 14,796 - 14,796 

- Debt-type sukuk at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income - 64,737 - 64,737 

- Equity-type sukuk at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income - 58,297 - 58,297 

- Equity type securities carried at fair 
value through other comprehensive 
income - - 23,774 23,774 

 

- 137,830 23,774 161,604 

 

The table below shows the reconciliation of movements in value of investments measured using 

Level 3 inputs: 
 

 2024 
BD ‘000 

 2023 
BD ‘000 

    

At 1 January 23,774  18,738 

Fair value change in equity  (993)  (623) 

Purchases -  5,932 

Sales -  (216) 

Settlements (57)  (57) 

    

At 31 December 22,724  23,774 
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

Introduction and overview 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• credit risk 

• liquidity risk 

• market risk 

 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, it’s 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management 

of capital. 

 

Risk management framework 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 

risk management framework. The Board has established various committees with responsibilities 

for managing the overall risks associated with the Group. The committees also continuously 

monitors consistent implementation of the Board approved policies in the Group and reports 

deviations, if any, to the Board. The committees consists of heads of business and other functional 

units in the Group. The committees comprise the following: Executive Risk Management, Executive 

Credit and Investment Committee (credit and investment risks), and Assets and Liabilities 

Committee (market and capital risks). In addition to the Committees, the Board has established an 

independent Risk Management Department with an overall responsibility to identify, measure, 

control risks and recommend policies and corrective actions. Risk Management Department 

reports directly to the Board Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 

the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 

conditions, products and services offered. The Group, through its training and management 

standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in 

which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 

The Group’s Audit and Risk Management Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with 

the risk management policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk 

management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit and Risk 

Management Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes 

both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which 

are reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s 

exposures to placements with financial institutions, financing contracts, investment in sukuk and 

other receivables. For risk management reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates 

all elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual and group exposure risk, country and sector 

concentration risk, related party exposure, etc.).  

 

The Group manages its credit risks through its various business units, an independent Risk 

Management Department, Board Audit & Risk Management Committee (“BARMC”), and the 

Executive Credit & Investment Committee (“ECICOM”).  The Credit risk management framework 

comprises the following: 
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• Formulating credit risk strategies policies and risk appetite which are developed after careful 

assessment of the market, capital requirement, regulatory rules, and the Board’s risk appetite.  

The risk strategies and risk appetites are coded into policies approved by the Board.  The 

Group’s credit policy framework includes, inter alia, the following: credit risk management 

framework, credit risk mitigations, credit risk rating, credit risk pricing, expected credit loss, 

cross border business policy, personal finance product programs, approval authorities’ matrix, 

and many others. 

 

• Credit granting process.  All credit exposures are assumed after careful assessment of the 

risks.  Business proposals are initiated by the business units through formal credit applications.  

Such credit application provide adequate information about the proposed exposure including 

description of possible risks and mitigating factors. Credit applications are independently 

reviewed by a Credit Review Unit to assess the adequacy of the due diligence conducted, 

independent assessment of the risks and mitigants, ensure compliance with limits and policies.  

Credit Review Unit issue formal opinion in respect of the proposals which may include 

recommendations for enhancing the Group’s position.  Proposals are then presented to 

approving authorities for their considerations (see proceeding point below).  Where applicable 

and necessary, credit applications are also independently reviewed by the Sharia Compliance 

Officer to ensure adherence to Islamic principles. 

 

• Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. 

Approval authorities are documented in the Credit Authorities Policy of the Group which 

describes the various approval authorities, conditions, and limits for approving business 

transactions arising from investment and credit activities within the Group.  There are 5 main 

levels of credit and investment authorities within the Group: Board of Directors, Board 

Investment & Credit Committee, Executive Credit & Investment Committee, Chief Executive 

Officer, and Heads of Business Units. Approval authorities are decided based on the magnitude 

of the risk and transactions size while at the same time allowing for smooth business 

operations. 

 

• Managing concentrations. The Group places significant emphasis on diversifying its portfolio 

through applying a portfolio strategy in which the Group spreads its assets and liabilities’ 

businesses so that results from volatility or fluctuations in such businesses become subdued, 

controlled, and assist in the consistent long-term growth of the shareholders’ interests.  An 

important element of such portfolio strategy is to establish limits within which the Management 

may conduct business. In principle, the Group shall adhere to all maximum limits established 

by regulatory authorities.  At the same time, the Group has defined its own internal limits to 

control the following: Credit risk concentration, Counterparty limits, Industry limits, Country 

limits, Collateral concentration limits, Product mix, Maturity limits, amongst others. These 

internal limits are reviewed on periodic basis taking into considerations the following factors: 

The Group’s risk appetite, Business and budget plans, Counterparty’s risk rating, Risk rating 

of the Counterparty’s country, the Group’s financial positions including liquidity and Capital 

adequacy, General market condition; and other factors as determined by the Board of Directors 

or the Board Audit & Risk Management Committee.  In general, the Group adopts a negative 

correlation between risks and limits in that lower limits are defined for higher risks. 

 

• Credit Measurement Methodologies. The Group quantifies its credit risk using two main 

metrics: expected loss (EL) and economic capital (EC). The expected loss reflects the average 

value of the estimated losses (i.e. the cost of the business) and is associated with the Group’s 

policy on provisions, while economic capital is the amount of capital necessary to cover 

unexpected losses (i.e. if actual losses are higher than expected losses). As part of its 

measurement techniques, the Group conducts adequate stress testing on its portfolio. 
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• Credit risk rating (CRR).  An important tool in monitoring the quality of individual credits, as well 

as the total portfolio, is the use of Credit Risk Rating systems. The Group adopts a well-

structured internal CRR system as a mean of differentiating the degree of credit risk in the 

different credit exposures of the Group to allow more accurate determination of the overall 

characteristics of the asset portfolio, concentrations, limits management, problem assets, 

pricing, and the adequacy of loss reserves (provisions).  As well as identifying the risks 

associated with a counterparty and a credit facility, CRRs provide a key input for the capital 

charges and risk weights.  The Group’s approach to credit risk rating is documented in the 

Credit Risk Rating Policy which aims at achieving the following: (a) create a benchmark for 

assessing relative creditworthiness of the graded entity and measure credit risk in relation to 

the market, (b) arrive at a system of risk-based pricing for credit facilities granted by the Group, 

(c) monitor the overall credit risk inherent in the Group’s Credit portfolio, (d) create a benchmark 

for recognition of accrued income on credit assets, (e) link asset review frequency and approval 

authority levels to Credit risk and emphasize focus on effective management of weak assets, 

and (f) provide a means to link Internal Capital Adequacy to the portfolio credit risk. 

 

• Classifications and identification of non-performing exposures. The Group has adopted FAS 

30 / IFRS 9 standards for classifying exposures into three stages. Accounts are moved into 

higher staging depending on occurrence of Significant Increase in Credit Risks. Exposures with 

past due 90 days or more are classified as non-performing. 
 

Credit risk grades 

The Group allocates each exposure to credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is 

determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit 

risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. 

These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. 

 

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases 

exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default between 

credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk grades 2 and 3. 

 

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade at initial recognition based on available information 

about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure 

being moved to a different credit risk grade. Exposers are rated 1 to 10 with 1 to 3 being good, 4 

to 6 being satisfactory and 7 being watch list and 8, 9 and 10 default grades. The monitoring 

typically involves use of the following data. 

 

Corporate exposures 

• Information obtained during periodic review of customer files- e.g. audited financial statements, 

management accounts, budgets and projections. Examples of areas of particular focus are: 

gross profit margins, financial leverage ratios, debt service coverage, compliance with 

covenants, quality of management, and senior management changes 

• Data from credit reference agencies. press articles, changes in external credit ratings 

• Quoted bond and credit default swap (CDS) prices for the borrower where available 

• Actual and expected significant changes in the political, regulatory and technological 

environment of the borrower or in its business activities 

 

Retail exposures 

• Internally collected data on customer behaviour -e.g. utilisation of credit card facilities 

• Affordability metrics 

• External data from credit reference agencies including industry-standard credit scores 
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All exposures 

• Payment record this includes overdue status as well as a range of variables about payment 

ratios 

• Utilisation of the granted limit 

• Requests for and granting of forbearance 

• Existing and forecast changes in business, financial and economic conditions 

 

Remedial management 

All credit exposures assumed by the Group are considered after thorough risk and reward analysis 

adequate for the size and nature of business being considered.  However, despite all due diligence 

exercised to minimize the risks involved, it is inevitable that certain exposures may experience setbacks 

due to various reasons such as: fundamental changes in the market conditions, changes in regulations and 

laws, changes in the status of counterparties (such as death, loss of job, sanctions, seizure of business, or 

bankruptcy), delays in deliverables (such as delays in completion of projects), or Unintentional errors in the 

initial assumptions. From business impact point of view, such exposures would have high costs due to 

suspension of profits, provisioning, liquidity, reputational, or opportunity costs. To prevent such adverse 

business impact, the Group has developed a prudent remedial strategy appropriate for the size, nature, 

and delinquency period.  Such strategy is documented in the Remedial Management Policy.  The Group, 

through its Remedial and Collection department pursue various recovery techniques including dunning, 

rescheduling, restructuring, collateral foreclosure, legal actions, and cash settlement amongst others. 

 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated 

statement of financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross of provision, before the effect of 

mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements. 

 

 Gross 

maximum 

exposure 

BD ‘000 

 Gross 

maximum 

exposure 

2023 

BD ‘000 

Assets    

Balances with banks 105,446  116,384 

Placements with financial institutions 71,018  124,194 

Investment in sukuk 504,235  524,363 

Financing contracts 742,158  571,238 

Other assets* 9,376  9,704 

Total 1,423,233  1,345,883 

    

    

Commitments and financial guarantees 73,950  58,265 

    

Total credit risk exposure 1,506,183  1,404,148 

 

 

*Other assets do not carry any ECL that is material for recognition purposes due to their low credit. 
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Exposures subject to credit risk 

31 December 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3** Total 

BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Financing contracts       

Grade 8 -10 Impaired  -    -    57,702  57,702  

Past due but not impaired:     

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 9,952  903  -    10,855  

Grade 4-6 Satisfactory 57,860  17,826  -    75,686  

Grade 7 Watch list 64  8,776  -    8,840  

Past due comprises:    - 

Up to 30 days 59,279  10,169  -    69,448  

30-60 days 8,394  8,137  -    16,531  

60-90 days 203  9,199  -    9,402  

    - 

Neither past due nor impaired:    - 

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 196,418  6,216  -    202,634  

Grade 4-6 Satisfactory 345,617  37,363  -    382,980  

Grade 7 Watch list 3,461  -    -    3,461  

Gross carrying amount 613,372  71,084  57,702  742,158  

Less: expected credit losses (933) (4,364) (15,694) (20,991) 

Net carrying amount  612,439  66,720  42,008  721,167  
 

31 December 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Investment in Sukuk     

Grade 8 -10 Impaired -     -     1,318  1,318  

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 502,917  -     -     502,917  

Gross carrying amount 502,917  -    1,318  504,235  

Less: expected credit losses (778) -    (1,318) (2,096) 

Net carrying amount 502,139  -    -    502,139  

    - 

Balances with banks and placements    - 

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 176,464  -    -    176,464  

Grade 4-6 Satisfactory -    -    -    -    

Gross carrying amount 176,464  -    -    176,464  

Less: expected credit losses (1) -    -    (1) 

Net carrying amount 176,463  -    -    176,463  

    - 

Commitments and financial guarantees    - 

Grade 8 -10 Impaired  -  -  6  6  

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 56,042  95  -    56,137  

Grade 4-6 Satisfactory 17,725  82  -    17,807  

Grade 7 Watch list -    -    -    -    

Gross carrying amount 73,767  177  6  73,950  

Less: expected credit losses (67) (2) (5) (74) 

Net carrying amount 73,700  175  1  73,876  

Total net carrying amount 1,364,741  66,896  42,009  1,473,646  

 

* Includes facilities under cooling off period of BD 10,768 thousand. 
 ** includes BD 1,506 thousand of purchased or originated credit impaired assets (POCI). 
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CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 

Exposures subject to credit risk (continued) 

31 December 2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3* Total 

BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Financing contracts       

Grade 8 -10 Impaired  -    -    47,782  47,782  

    - 

Past due but not impaired    - 

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 1,890  1,505  -    3,396  

Grade 4-6 Satisfactory 17,482 47,130 - 64,612 

Grade 7 Watch list 1,309  10,897  -    12,206  

Past due comprises:    - 

Up to 30 days 19,386  10,484  -  29,870  

30-60 days 1,011  23,559  -  24,570  

60-90 days 285  25,489  -  25,774  

    - 

Neither past due nor impaired     - 

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 182,390  4,406  -    186,796  

Grade 4-6 Satisfactory 221,937  32,913  -    254,850  

Grade 7 Watch list 77  1,519  -    1,596  

Gross carrying amount 425,086  98,370  47,782  571,238  

Less: expected credit losses (1,709) (5,716) (15,526) (22,951) 

Net carrying amount  423,377  92,654  32,256  548,287  
 

31 December 2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

Investment in Sukuk     

Grade 8 -10 Impaired -  -  1,318  1,318  

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 523,045  -  -  523,045  

Gross carrying amount 523,045  -    1,318  524,363  

Less: expected credit losses (299) -  (1,318) (1,617) 

Net carrying amount 522,746  -    -    522,746  

    - 

Balances with banks and placements    - 

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 240,578  -  -  240,578  

Gross carrying amount 240,578  -    -    240,578  

Less: expected credit losses (5) -  -  (5) 

Net carrying amount 240,573  -    -    240,573  

    - 

Commitments and financial guarantees    - 

Grade 8 -10 Impaired  -    -    -    -    

Grade 1-3 Low Risk 36,373  -    -    36,373  

Grade 4-6 Satisfactory 19,975  1,918  -    21,892  

Grade 7 Watch list -    -    -    -    

Gross carrying amount 56,347  1,918  -    58,265  

Less: expected credit losses (19) (36) (6) (61) 

Net carrying amount 56,328  1,882  (6) 58,204  

Total net carrying amount 1,243,024  94,536  32,250  1,369,810  
 
 

* Includes facilities under cooling off period of BD 3,524 thousand. 
  

 ** includes BD 1,475 thousand of purchased or originated credit impaired assets (POCI). 
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CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

Significant increase in credit risk 

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument and ijarah assets has 

increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 

quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 

and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 

  

In determining whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the following 

criteria are considered:  

 

1 Downgrade in risk rating according to the approved ECL policy; 

2 Facilities restructured during previous twelve months;  

3 Qualitative indicators; and 

4 Facilities overdue by more than 30 days as at the reporting date subject to rebuttal in deserving 

circumstances. 

 

Generating the term structure of PD  

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for 

exposures. The Group collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures 

analyzed by jurisdiction or region and by type of product, borrower and credit risk grading. 

The Group employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate estimates of the 

remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the 

passage of time.  

 

This analysis includes the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default 

rates and changes in key macro-economic factors as well as in-depth analysis of the impact of 

certain other factors (e.g. forbearance experience) on the risk of default. For most exposures, key 

macro-economic indicators include: GDP growth, benchmark profit rates and oil price.  For 

exposures to specific industries and/or regions. the analysis may extend to relevant commodity 

and/or real estate prices. 

 

Generating the term structure of PD (continued) 

Based on advice from the Risk Management Department and economic experts and consideration 

of a variety of external actual and forecast information, the Group formulates a 'base case' view of 

the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other 

possible forecast scenarios (see discussion below on incorporation of forward-looking information). 

The Group then uses these forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs. 

 

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly  

The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary by portfolio and 

include quantitative changes in PDs and qualitative factors, including a backstop based on 

delinquency.  

 

Using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience, the Group 

may determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk based on  

particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such and whose effect may not 

otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. 

 

Qualitative indicators, including different criteria used for different portfolios credit cards and 

commercial real estate. 
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As a backstop, the Group considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs no later than 

when an asset is more than 30 days past due.  Days past due are determined by counting the 

number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not been 

received. Due dates are determined without considering any grace period that might be available 

to the borrower. 

 

The Group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit 

risk by regular reviews to confirm that: 

 

• The criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is 

in default; 

• The criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes more than 30 days past 

due; and 

• There is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month PD    

(stage 1) and lifetime PD (stage 2). 

 

Definition of default  

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

➢ the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the 

Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 

➢ the borrower is 90 days or more past due on any material obligation to the Group. 

➢ It is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy 

due to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligation.  

 

In assessing whether the borrower is in default, the Group considers qualitative and quantitative 

indicators. The definition of default aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory capital 

purposes.  

 

Incorporation of forward-looking information  

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit 

risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of 

ECL. Based on advice from the Executive Risk Management Committee (“ERMC”) and economic 

experts and consideration of a variety of external actual and forecast information. the Group 

formulates a 'base case' view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a 

representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. This process involves developing two or 

more additional economic scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each outcome.  

 

External information includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and 

monetary authorities in the countries where the Group operates, supranational organisations such 

as the OECD and the International Monetary Fund, and selected private-sector and academic 

forecasters.  

 

The base case represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the Group 

for other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more 

optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. Periodically, the Group carries out stress testing of more 

extreme shocks to calibrate its determination of these other representative scenarios.  

 

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each 

portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated 

relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. The economic 

scenarios used as at 31 December 2024 included the key indicators for the selected countries such 

as the domestic credit growth, volume of imports of goods and services and the GDP growth. 
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Modified financial contracts 

The contractual terms of a financing contracts may be modified for a number of reasons, including 

changing market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or 

potential credit deterioration of the customer.  

 

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in 

derecognition, the determination of whether the asset's credit risk has increased significantly 

reflects comparison of: 

➢ Its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with 

➢ The remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original 

contractual terms. 

 

The Group renegotiates financing to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as 'forbearance 

activities’) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Group's 

forbearance policy, forbearance of financing contracts is granted on a selective basis if the debtor 

is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor 

made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected 

to be able to meet the revised terms.  

 

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of profit payments 

and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate financings are subject to the 

forbearance policy.  

 

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an 

expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired / in default 

(refer Note 5). A customer needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour over a 

period of time (3 months for retail customers and 6 months for corporate inline with the CM module 

under volume 2 issued by CBB) before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/ 

in default or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being 

measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.  

 

Measurement of ECLs 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 

present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are 

discounted at the effective profit rate of the financial asset. 

 

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:  

➢ probability of default (PD);  

➢ loss given default (LGD); and 

➢ exposure at default (EAD).  

 

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other 

historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.  

 

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated based on statistical rating 

models, and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and 

exposures. These statistical models are based on internally compiled data comprising both 

quantitative and qualitative factors. Where it is available, market data may also be used to derive 

the PD for large corporate counterparties. If a counterparty or exposure migrates between rating 

classes, then this will lead to a change in the estimate of the associated PD.  
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LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters 

using various approaches which includes  the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted 

counterparties and regulatory haircuts on collaterals as a basis to determine the LGD. The LGD 

models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery 

costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. For financing contracts secured by retail 

property, LTV ratios are a key parameter in determining LGD. They are calculated on a discounted 

cash flow basis using the effective profit rate as the discounting factor.  

  

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from 

the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed 

under the contract including amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. 

For lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD includes the amount drawn, as well 

as potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on 

historical observations.  

 
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss 
allowance: 12-month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit-impaired. 

 

 12 month 

ECL 

(Stage 1) 

Lifetime ECL not 

credit impaired 

(Stage 2) 

Lifetime ECL 

credit impaired 

(Stage 3 + POCI) 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Balance at  

1 January 2024 2,032 5,440 17,162 24,634 

     

Transfer to 12-month 

ECL 4,026 (3,674) (352) - 

Transfer to lifetime 

ECL non-credit-

impaired (112) 382 (270) - 

Transfer to lifetime 

ECL credit-impaired (441) (1,474) 1,915 - 

Net transfers 3,473  (4,766) 1,293  -    

Net re-measurement 

of loss allowance 

                               
(3,726) 

                       
3,692  1,955  1,921   

Write-offs - - (3,395) (3,395) 

Settlements - - - - 

 

Balance at  

31 December 2024 1,779  4,366  17,015 23,160   
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38.        FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 

 
Break down of ECL by category of assets in the statement of financial position and off-balance  

sheet commitments: 

 

 
12 month 

ECL 

 

 

(Stage 1) 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit 

impaired 

 

(Stage 2) 

Lifetime 

ECL 

credit 

impaired 

(Stage 3 

+ POCI) 

Total 

2024 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Balances and placements with banks  

and financial institutions 1 - - 1 

Investment in sukuk (note 8) 778  -    1,318  2,096  

Financing contracts (note 9) 933  4,364  15,693  20,990  

Commitments and Contingencies  

(note 39) 67  2  5  74  

 

 
1,779  4,366  17,016  23,161  

 
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss 
allowance: 12-month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit-impaired. 

 

 12 month 

ECL 

(Stage 1) 

Lifetime ECL not 

credit impaired 

(Stage 2) 

Lifetime ECL 

credit impaired 

(Stage 3 + POCI) 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Balance at  

1 January 2023 5,594 4,362 14,188 24,144 

     

Transfer to 12-month 

ECL 1,608 (1,278) (330) - 

Transfer to lifetime 

ECL non-credit-

impaired (1,720) 1,776 (56) - 

Transfer to lifetime 

ECL credit-impaired (872) (227) 1,099 - 

Net transfers (984) 271 713 - 

Net re-measurement 

of loss allowance (2,578) 1,119 2,928 1,469 

Write-offs - - (90) (90) 

Settlements - - (889) (889) 

 

Balance at  

31 December 2023 2,032 5,752 16,850 24,634 
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38.        FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 

 
Breakdown of ECL by category of assets in the statement of financial position and off-balance sheet 

commitments: 

 

 
12 month 

ECL 

 

 

(Stage 1) 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit 

impaired 

 

(Stage 2) 

Lifetime 

ECL 

credit 

impaired 

(Stage 3 + 

POCI) 

Total 

2023 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

     

Balances and placements with banks  

and financial institutions 5 - - 5 

Investment in sukuk (note 8) 299 - 1,318 1,617 

Financing contracts (note 9) 1,709 5,716 15,526 22,951 

Commitments and financial 

guarantees (note 18) 19 36 6 61 

 

 2,032 5,752 16,850 24,634 
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CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

Impaired financial assets 

Impaired financial assets are those for which the Group determines that it is probable that it will be 

unable to collect all or part of the principal and profit due according to the contractual terms of the 

exposure and these fall under risk grades 8, 9 and 10. For other financial assets impairment is 

assessed on an individual basis for each exposure by considering various factors. 

 

Past due but not impaired exposures 

The exposure pertains to financing contracts where contractual profit or principal payments are 

past due but the Group believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of subsequent 

collections, the level of security / collateral available and / or the stage of collection of amounts 

owed to the Group. 

 

Renegotiated facilities 

During the year, facilities of BD 40,773 thousand (2023: BD 31,733 thousand) were renegotiated, 

out of which BD 29,785 thousand (2023: BD 18,076 thousand) are classified as neither past due 

nor impaired as of 31 December 2024. The renegotiated terms usually require settlement of profits 

accrued till date on the facility and/or part payment of the principal and/or obtaining of additional 

collateral coverage. The renegotiated facilities are subject to revised credit assessments and 

independent review by the RMD.  

 

Allowances for impairment 

The Group makes provisions for impairment on individual assets classified under grades 8,9 and 

10. This is done on the basis of the present value of projected future cash flows from the assets 

themselves and consideration of the value of the collateral securities available. On a collective 

basis, the Group has provided for impairment losses based on management’s judgment of the 

extent of losses incurred but not identified based on the current economic and credit conditions. 

 

Write-off policy  

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable 

expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects 

no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off 

could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for 

recovery of amounts due. During the year, the Group has written off financing facilities amounting 

to BD nil thousand (2023: BD 90 thousand) which were fully impaired. The Group has recovered 

BD 4,147 thousand from a financing facility written off in previous years (2023: BD 3,199 thousand). 

 

Collaterals 

The Group holds collateral against financing contracts in the form of mortgage/ pledge over 

property, listed securities, other assets and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the 

value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing. Valuation of collateral is updated when the 

loan is put on a watch list and the loan is monitored more closely.  Collateral generally is not held 

against exposure to other banks and financial institutions. An estimate of the fair value of collateral 

and other security enhancements held against financial assets is shown below. This includes the 

value of financial guarantees from banks, but not corporate and personal guarantees as the values 

thereof are not readily quantifiable. The collateral values considered for disclosure are restricted to 

the extent of the outstanding exposures. 
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Collaterals (continued) 

 

  
As at 31 December 2024 

  
As at 31 December 2023 

 Financing 
assets 

Ijarah 
assets Total  

Financing 
assets 

Ijarah 
assets Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000  BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

        

Against 

impaired        

Property 22,819 6,605 29,424   4,301   8,187   12,488  

Other 488 - 488   744   -     744  

           

Against past 

due but not 

impaired 

      

    

Property 24,331 24,982 49,313   59,231   13,843   73,074  

Other 5,835 - 5,835   5,239   -     5,239  

           

Against neither 

past due nor 

impaired 

      

    

Property 157,234 116,898 274,132   131,127   140,890   272,017  

Other 22,130 - 22,130   8,482   -     8,482  

           

Total 232,837 148,485 381,322   209,124   162,920   372,044  

 

For analysis of concentration of total assets and liabilities refer note 36. 

 

Further, for financing contracts, the Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by 

geographic location. 

 

An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is shown below: 

 

Concentration 

by Sector  
As at 31 December 2024  As at 31 December 2023 

 Financing 

assets 

Ijarah 

assets Total  

Financing 

assets 

Ijarah 

assets Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000  BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 

        

Banking and 

finance 49,677 - 49,677 

 

2,853 - 2,853 

Real estate 44,683 198,000 242,683  39,339 180,286 219,625 

Construction 28,616 - 28,616  57,514 - 57,514 

Trading 64,688 - 64,688  60,220 - 60,220 

Manufacturing 12,358 - 12,358  10,427 - 10,427 

Consumer 35,185  35,185  39,420 - 39,420 

Others 246,113 41,847 287,960  131,846 26,382 158,228 

Total carrying 

amount 481,320 239,847 721,167 

 

341,619 206,668 548,287 
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CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 

Collaterals (continued) 

 

Settlement risk  

The Group’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. 

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a company to honour its obligations to deliver 

cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. 

 

Settlement limits form part of the credit approval / limit monitoring process described earlier. 

Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades requires transaction specific or 

counterparty specific approvals from RMD. 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 

with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets. 

 

Management of liquidity risk 

 

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 

without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

 

As at the reporting date, the liquidity and funding position of the Group remains strong and is well 

placed to absorb and manage the impacts of this disruption. Further information on the regulatory 

liquidity and capital ratios as at 31 December 2024 have been disclosed below. 

 

Financial Control Department (FCD) collates data from treasury and other business units regarding 

the liquidity profile of their financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows 

arising from projected future business. FCD communicates the information to the treasury who 

manages the Group’s portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-term 

placements with other banks and other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is 

maintained within the Group as a whole. 

 

The daily liquidity position is monitored by FCD. The Group has in place a Liquidity Contingency 

Plan, the elements of which are periodically tested. Tools for implementation of regular stress 

testing under various scenarios are in place. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to 

review by ALCO and approval by appropriate authorities. A summary report, including any 

exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted regularly to ALCO members. 

 

Exposure to liquidity risk 

The key measure used by the Group for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to 

deposits from customers. For computation of this, net liquid assets are considered as including 

cash and bank balances and placements with financial Institutions and investments in sukuk net of 

sukuk pledged against term financing from financial institutions less placements from financial 

institution, and deposits comprise current accounts, placements from non-financial institutions and 

individuals, and quasi-equity. 
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LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

For maturity profile of assets and liabilities refer note 35. 

 

The Central Bank of Bahrain introduced Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding 

Ratio (NSFR) during 2019. 

 

LCR has been developed to promote short-term resilience of a bank’s liquidity risk profile. The LCR 

requirements aim to ensure that a bank has an adequate stock of unencumbered high quality 

liquidity assets (HQLA) that consists of assets that can be converted into cash immediately to meet 

its liquidity needs for a 30 calendar day stressed liquidity period. The stock of unencumbered HQLA 

should enable the Bank to survive until day 30 of the stress scenario, by which time appropriate 

corrective actions would have been taken by management to find the necessary solutions to the 

liquidity crisis.  

 

LCR is computed as a ratio of Stock of HQLA over the Net cash outflows over the next 30 calendar 

days. As at 31 December 2024, the Bank is required to maintain LCR greater than 100% as per 

the CBB. As of 31 December 2024, the Bank had LCR ratio of 182.02% (31 December 2023: 

340.37%). 

 

NSFR is to promote the resilience of banks’ liquidity risk profiles and to incentivise a more resilient 

banking sector over a longer time horizon. The NSFR will require banks to maintain a stable funding 

profile in relation to the composition of their assets and off-balance sheet activities. A sustainable 

funding structure is intended to reduce the likelihood that disruptions to a bank’s regular sources 

of funding will erode its liquidity position in a way that would increase the risk of its failure and 

potentially lead to broader systemic stress. The NSFR limits overreliance on short-term wholesale 

funding, encourages better assessment of funding risk across all on-balance sheet and off-balance 

sheet items, and promotes funding stability. 

 

NSFR as a percentage is calculated as “Available stable funding” divided by “Required stable 

funding”. As at 31 December 2024, the Bank is required to maintain NSFR ratio greater than 100%. 

As of 31 December 2024, the Bank had NSFR ratio of 105.34% (31 December 2023: 102.54%). 
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The Consolidated NSFR calculated as per the requirements of the CBB rulebook, as of  

31 December 2024 is as follows: 

 

Unweighted values (i.e. before applying relevant 
factors) 

Total 
weighted 

value  

No 
specified 
maturity 

Less than 
6 months 

More than 6 
months and 

less than 
one year 

Over one 
year 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 
Available Stable Funding (ASF):  
Capital: 
Regulatory Capital 131,214 - - 6,581 137,795 

Other Capital Instruments - - - - - 
Retail deposits and deposits from 
small business customers: 
Stable deposits - 24,870 11,124 327 34,521 

Less Stable deposits - 311,967 101,958 8,252 380,785 
Wholesale funding: 
Operational deposits - - - - - 

Other wholesale funding - 763,459 75,000 51,019 284,346 
Other liabilities: 
NSFR derivative liabilities - - - - - 
All other liabilities not included in the 
above categories - 22,161 - - - 

Total ASF 131,214 1,122,456 188,082 66,180 837,447 

 
 
Required Stable Funding (RSF): 
Total NSFR high-quality liquid assets 
(HQLA) 409,422 - - - 19,612 
Performing financing and 
sukuk/securities: 
Performing financing to financial 
institutions secured by level 1 HQLA - - - - - 
Performing financing to financial 
institutions secured by non-level 1 
HQLA and unsecured performing 
financing to financial institutions - 135,212 - - 20,282 
Performing financing to non-financial 
corporate clients, financing to retail 
and small business customers, and 
financing to sovereigns, central 
banks and PSEs, of which:  - 86,424 36,861 452,870 433,794 
- With a risk weight of less than or 
equal to 35% as per the CBB Capital 
Adequacy Ratio guidelines - - - 63,940 41,561 
Performing residential mortgages, 
of which:      
- With a risk weight of less than or 
equal to 35% under the CBB 
Capital Adequacy Ratio Guidelines - - - 108,302 70,396 
Securities / sukuk that are not in 
default and do not qualify as HQLA, 
including exchange-traded equities 29,241 23,735 - 111,012 136,169 
All other assets not included in the 
above categories  110,986 - - - 110,986 

OBS items 76,423 - - - 3,821 

Total RSF 626,071 245,372 36,861 672,183 795,060 

NSFR%     105.34% 

 

 



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                92 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 
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LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

The Consolidated NSFR calculated as per the requirements of the CBB rulebook, as of  

31 December 2023 is as follows: 

 

Unweighted values (i.e. before applying relevant 
factors) 

Total 
weighted 

value  

No specified 
maturity 

Less than 
6 months 

More than 6 
months and 

less than 
one year 

Over one 
year 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 
Available Stable Funding (ASF):  
Capital: 
Regulatory Capital 155,230 - - 8,546 163,776 

Other Capital Instruments - - - - - 
Retail deposits and deposits from 
small business customers: 
Stable deposits - 60,115 13,753 1,420 71,594 
Less Stable deposits - 194,817 64,094 14,904 247,924 
Wholesale funding: 
Operational deposits - - - - - 

Other wholesale funding - 779,406 104,785 89,997 274,826 
Other liabilities: 
NSFR derivative liabilities      
All other liabilities not included in the 
above categories - 23,956 - - - 

Total ASF 155,230 1,058,293 182,632 114,867 758,121 

 
 
Required Stable Funding (RSF): 
Total NSFR high-quality liquid assets 
(HQLA) 468,412 - - - 21,884 
Performing financing and 
sukuk/securities: 
Performing financing to financial 
institutions secured by level 1 HQLA - - - - - 
Performing financing to financial 
institutions secured by non-level 1 
HQLA and unsecured performing 
financing to financial institutions - 158,759 - - 23,814 
Performing financing to non-financial 
corporate clients, financing to retail 
and small business customers, and 
financing to sovereigns, central 
banks and PSEs, of which:  - 88,517 28,980 299,779 307,226 
- With a risk weight of less than or 
equal to 35% as per the CBB Capital 
Adequacy Ratio guidelines - - - 30,031 19,520 
Performing residential mortgages, of 
which: - - - - - 
- With a risk weight of less than or 
equal to 35% under the CBB 
Capital Adequacy Ratio Guidelines - - - 80,436 52,283 
Securities / sukuk that are not in 
default and do not qualify as HQLA, 
including exchange-traded equities 115,256 41,752 - 84,889 213,193 
All other assets not included in the 
above categories  101,383 - - - 101,383 

OBS items 59,798 - - - 2,990 

Total RSF 744,849 289,028 28,980 490,615 739,355 

NSFR%     102.54% 
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MARKET RISK 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as profit rate, equity prices, foreign 

exchange rates and credit spreads will affect the Group’s income, future cash flows or the value of 

its holdings of financial instruments. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, profit 

rate risk and other price risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 

market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 

 

Exposure to profit rate risk–non–trading portfolios 

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in 

the future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market profit 

rates. Profit rate risk is managed principally through monitoring profit rate gaps and by having pre-

approved limits for re-pricing bands. The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these 

limits and is assisted by the Group’s Risk Management Department in its day-to-day monitoring 

activities. 

 

A summary of the Group’s profit rate gap position at 31 December 2024 is as follows: 

 

31 December 2024 
 

Up to 3 
months 

3 - 6 
months 

6 months - 
1 year 

 

1 - 3 
years 

More than 
3 years 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 
Assets       
Balances with banks 
& Placements with 
financial institutions 134,393  -   -   -   -   134,393  
Investment in sukuk 64,782  -   86,878  110,904  239,575  502,139  
Financing contracts 41,233  13,764  9,420  66,764  589,986  721,167  

 
Total profit rate 
sensitive assets 240,408  13,764  96,298  177,668  829,561  1,357,699  

       
Liabilities and 
investment 
accounts        
Placements from 
financial institutions  95,095  38,191  1,685  -   -   134,971  
Placements from 
non-financial 
institutions and 
individuals 184,002  54,091  82,380  9,342  -   329,815  
Term financing from 
financial institutions -   -   -   245,526  -   245,526  
Customers’ current 
accounts 1,043  -   -   -   -   1,043  
Quasi-equity 334,826  61,512  106,954  15,904  -   519,196  

Total profit rate 
sensitive liabilities 
and investment 
accounts 614,966  153,794  191,019  270,772  -    1,230,551  
       

Profit rate gap (374,558) (140,030) (94,721) (93,104) 829,561  127,148  
Cumulative profit 
rate gap (374,558) (514,588) (609,309) (702,413) 127,148   
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MARKET RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

Exposure to profit rate risk–non–trading portfolios (continued) 
 

31 December 2023 
 

Up to 3 
months 

3 - 6 
months 

6 months - 
1 year 

 

1 - 3 
years 

More than 
3 years 

Total 

 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 BD ‘000 
Assets       
Balances with 
banks & 
Placements with 
financial 
institutions 124,189  -  -  -  -  124,189  
Investment in 
sukuk 34,515  58,297  15,223  222,090  192,621  522,746  
Financing 
contracts 39,626  9,750  67,046  93,843  338,022  548,287  

 
Total profit rate 
sensitive assets 198,330  68,047  82,269  315,933  530,642  1,195,222  

       
Liabilities and 
investment 
accounts        
Placements from 
financial 
institutions  178,654  40,214  12,697  6,207  -  237,773  
Placements from 
non-financial 
institutions and 
individuals - - - 264,362  -  264,362  
Term financing 
from financial 
institutions 59,555  26,711  106,271  13,981  -  206,518  
Customers’ current 
accounts 1,071  - - - -  1,071  
Quasi-equity 379,480  54,162  65,422  36,585  13  535,662  

Total profit rate 
sensitive liabilities 
and investment 
accounts 618,760  121,087  184,390  321,135  13  1,245,386  
       

Off Balance Sheet  (385,566) (46,116) (89,381) (1,517) 530,681  8,101  

Profit rate gap       
Cumulative profit 
rate gap (385,566) (431,682) (521,062) (522,580) 8,101   

 
The management of profit rate risk against profit rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the 

sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard profit 

rate scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 100 basis point 

(bp) parallel fall or rise across all yield curves and a 50 bp rise or fall of all yield curves. 
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38.        FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

MARKET RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

Exposure to profit rate risk–non–trading portfolios (continued) 

 

An analysis of the Group’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in market profit rates (assuming 

no asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a constant statement of financial position position) 

is as follows: 

 

 

 

100bp 

increase/ 

decrease 

 50bp 

increase/ 

decrease 

 BD ‘000  BD ‘000 

    

At 31 December 2024 ± 637  ± 319 

At 31 December 2023 ± 81  ± 40 

 

Overall non-trading profit rate risk positions are managed by Treasury department, which uses 

short term investment securities, placement with banks and placement from banks to manage the 

overall position arising from the Group’s non-trading activities. 

 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 

foreign exchange rates. The Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in 

foreign currency as of 31 December. 

 

 2024  2023 

 BD   BD 

 Equivalent  Equivalent 

 BD ‘000  BD ‘000 

    

US Dollars* 1,095,249  1,009,408 

Other GCC Currencies * (140,569)  (231,527) 

Euros 52  (705) 

Australian Dollars 5,019  5,504 

Kuwaiti Dinars 3,602  3,774 

Sterling Pounds  (555)  (836) 

Indian Rupee 46  15 

 
  



KHALEEJI BANK B.S.C.                96 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 
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MARKET RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

(*) The exposure in US dollars and other GCC currencies does not create any foreign exchange 

risk for the Group since Bahrain Dinars and other GCC currencies except for Kuwaiti Dinars are 

effectively pegged to the US Dollars. 

 

The management of foreign exchange risk against net exposure limits is supplemented by 

monitoring the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to various foreign exchange 

scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 5% plus/minus 

increase in exchange rates, for currencies other than US Dollars, other GCC currencies. 

 

An analysis of the Group’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in foreign exchange rates 

(assuming all other variables, primarily profit rates, remain constant) is as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

 BD   BD 

 

Equivalent 

BD ‘000 

 Equivalent 

BD ‘000 

    

Euros ±3  ±35 

Australian Dollars ±251  ±275 

Kuwaiti Dinars ±180  ±189 

Sterling Pounds ±28  ±42 

Indian Rupees ±2  ±1 

 

Exposure to other price risks–non–trading portfolios 

Credit spread risk on debt securities is subject to regular monitoring by RMD, but is not currently 

significant in relation to the overall financial position of the Group. 

 

The Group’s unquoted equity securities are exposed to risk of changes in equity values. Refer to 

note 28 for significant estimates and judgments in relation to impairment assessment of unquoted 

equity investments carried at FVTOCI. The Group manages exposure to other price risks by 

actively monitoring the performance of the equity securities. The performance assessment is 

performed on a quarterly basis and is reported to the Board Investment and Credit Committee 

 

OPERATIONAL RISK 

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems and control failures, fraud and human errors, 

which can result in financial and reputation loss, and legal and regulatory consequences. The 

Group manages operational risk through appropriate controls, instituting segregation of duties and 

internal checks and balances, including internal audit and compliance. The Risk Management 

Department is in charge of identifying, monitoring and managing operational risk in the Group. The 

Group already has an approved policy for doing this and all required organisational and physical 

infrastructure are in place. 

 

The Group has completed conducting Risk Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) of Operational risk 

for the departments of the Group to identify the important Key Risk Areas, Key Risk Indicators and 

Key Risk Triggers. The RCSA process is a continuous process and will be conducted at regular 

frequencies across the Group. It will be an annual process to review all the KRI’s. A software for 

monitoring these triggers and recording actual and near miss losses is already in place. The 

medium-term objective of the Group is to generate statistically reliable data to upgrade to more 

sophisticated modes of Operational Risk Control both to manage the risk better and to reduce 

capital commitment. 
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38.        FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Group as a 

whole. In implementing current capital requirements CBB requires the Group to maintain a 

prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets. The capital adequacy regulations of 

CBB is based on the principles of Basel III and the IFSB guidelines, with an agreed level of 

application for each Bank. 

 

The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers: 

 

▪ Tier 1 capital:  includes CET1 and AT1. 

CET1 comprise of ordinary share capital that meet the classification as common shares for 

regulatory purposes, disclosed reserves including share premium, general reserves, legal / 

statutory reserve, common shares issued by consolidated banking subsidiaries of the Bank and 

held by third parties, retained earnings after regulatory adjustments relating to goodwill and items 

that are included in equity which are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes. 

 

AT1 comprise instruments comprise the Mudharaba Sukuk issued by the Bank which meet the 

criteria of AT1 and is perpetual with a loss absorbing / conversion feature.  

 

▪ Tier 2 capital 

 

This includes instruments issued by the Bank that meet the criteria for inclusion in Tier 2 capital, 

stock surplus resulting from issue of Tier 2 capital, instruments issued by consolidated banking 

subsidiaries of the Bank held by third parties that meet the criteria for inclusion in Tier 2, general 

provisions held against unidentified losses on financing and qualify for inclusion within Tier 2, asset 

revaluation reserve from revaluation of fixed assets and instruments purposes and regulatory 

adjustments applied in the calculation of Tier 2 capital. 

 

The regulations prescribe higher risk weights for certain exposures that exceeds materiality 

thresholds. These regulatory adjustments required for certain items such as goodwill on mortgage 

service right, deferred tax assets, cash flow hedge reserve, gain on sale of related securitization 

transactions, defined benefit pension fund assets and liabilities, investment in own shares and 

reciprocal cross holdings in the capital of Banking and financial entities, investment in the capital 

of Banking and financial entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation and where 

the Group does not own more than 10% of issued common shares capital of the entity and 

significant investments in the capital of banking and financial entities that are outside the scope of 

regulatory consolidation. 

 

Banking operations are categorised as either trading book or banking book, and risk-weighted 

assets are determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels 

of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet exposures. 
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38.        FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

OPERATIONAL RISK (CONTINUED) 

 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

To counter the effect of COVID 19, the CBB had allowed the aggregate of modification loss and 

incremental ECL of BD 10,083 thousand for the period from March to December 2020 to be added 

back to Tier 1 capital for the three years commencing 1 January 2023. 

 

The Group’s regulatory capital position at 31 December was as follows: 

 

 

31 December 

2024 

BD ‘000  

31 December 

2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Total risk weighted exposure 604,964  567,230 

     

 Tier 1 capital:     

- CET 1 capital prior to regulatory adjustments       131,214   108,008 

- Less: regulatory adjustments  -   - 

CET 1 after regulatory adjustments      131,214   108,008 

AT1                -     47,222 

Tier 2 capital:           6,145   6,036 

Total regulatory capital       137,359   161,266 
Total regulatory capital expressed as a percentage of 
total risk weighted assets 

22.71% 
 

28.43% 

      

Liquidity coverage ratio 182.02%  340.37% 

Net stable funding ratio 105.34%  102.54% 

Leverage ratio 11.11%  13.52% 

     

 

The Group has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the year. 

 

Capital allocation 

The allocation of capital between specific operations and activities is primarily driven by regulatory 

requirements. The Group’s capital management policy seeks to maximise return on risk adjusted 

while satisfying all the regulatory requirements. The Group’s policy on capital allocation is subject 

to regular review by the Board. All dividends are subject to approval by the CBB. 

 

39. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 

The commitments contracted in the normal course of business of the Group: 

 2024 

BD ‘000 

 2023 

BD ‘000 

    

Undrawn commitments to extend finance * 35,188  42,930 

Financial guarantees 38,762  15,335 

    

 73,950  58,265 

 

* The Group has a right to revoke the undrawn commitment to extend finance prior to expiry of its tenor.  
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39.        COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 

 

As of 31 December 2024 impairment allowance of BD 14 thousand (2023: BD 2 thousand) has 

been recorded on account of the credit risk on these for commitments and contingent liabilities. 
 

Performance obligations 

During the ordinary course of business, the Group may enter into performance obligations in 

respect of certain of its infrastructure development projects. It is the usual practice of the Group to 

pass these performance obligations, wherever possible, on to the companies that own the projects. 

In the opinion of the management, no liabilities are expected to materialise on the Group at  

31 December 2024 due to the performance of any of its projects. 

 

Litigations and claims 

In the normal course of business, legal cases are filed by the Bank against its customers and 

against the Bank by its customers or investors. The Group's legal department engages with in-

house legal counsel and external legal counsel depending on the nature of the cases. A periodic 

assessment is carried out to determine the likely outcome of these legal cases and is reported to 

the senior management and Board of directors. 

 

40. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

 

The Group discharges its social responsibilities through donations to charitable causes and 

organisations from its zakah and charity fund. 

 

41. GLOBAL MINIMUM TAX 

 

Khaleeji Bank B.S.C (the Bank) is part of a multinational enterprise (“MNE”) group whose parent is 

domiciled and operates in the Kingdom of Bahrain.  The tax authorities in the Kingdom of Bahrain 

have issued and enacted Decree Law No. (11) of 2024 (‘Bahrain DMTT law’) on 1 September 2024 

introducing a domestic minimum top-up tax (“DMTT”) of up to 15% on the taxable income of the 

Bahrain resident entities of the MNE group for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2025. 

As per the group’s assessment of applicability of the DMTT law, it has assessed and concluded 

that it is not in scope for the Bahrain DMTT law or the OECD Global Anti-Base Erosion Pillar Two 

Model Rules (‘GloBE rules’). The reason for this conclusion is it does not have total annual 

consolidated revenue exceeding EUR 750 million in at least two of the four preceding fiscal years. 

Accordingly, the Bank does not expect to be subject to the Bahrain DMTT law and GloBE rules for 

the next fiscal year. 

 

42. COMPARITIVES 

 

Certain prior year amounts have been regrouped to conform the current year’s presentation. Such 

regrouping did not affect previously reported profit for the year or owner’s equity. 
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